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Chairman’s Letter

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER
Dear Fellow Shareholders
It is my pleasure to present the 2021 Annual
Report for Black Mountain Energy Ltd (Black
Mountain Energy or the Company), the first since
our listing on the Australian Securities Exchange
(ASX) in December 2021.
The Company is an energy and resources Company
focused on natural gas exploration, development,
and production, which was founded on the
premise that unconventional oil and gas reservoirs
could be developed safely and commercially in
Australia and internationally. The US Energy
Information Agency reported that the Canning
Basin has the largest shale gas potential in
Australia, and in fact the eighth largest in the
world. This was an attraction to our team who
have experience in creating shareholder wealth
from large scale projects.
Accordingly, our management bring significant
expertise to Australia and champion the effort to
deliver
responsibly
developed
and
environmentally conscious natural gas supply.
Our goal is to develop a resource that not only
provides socio-economic uplift to our traditional
owners, but that also provides Western Australia
with a supply of low-cost and reliable natural gas.
This report takes the time to reflect on the
significant achievements of our Company since
incorporation.
Our ASX listing followed a successful
oversubscribed Initial Public Offer (IPO) which
raised A$11 million, before costs. This capital will
be deployed to meet our ongoing objective of
commercialising our Valhalla Project, situated in
the Canning Basin region of Western Australia.
The acquisition of Black Mountain Exploration
Australia Pty Ltd, which in turn is the sole
shareholder of Bennett Resources Pty Ltd,
provided the Company with 100% ownership of
Petroleum Exploration Permit EP 371 (Project
Valhalla).

In September 2021 the Company was granted a
gas export exemption by the West Australian (WA)
State Government, this was a significant milestone
and enabled us to commence commercial
discussions with several parties in our efforts to
commercialise any future gas discovery within EP
371.
We have been active in engaging with traditional
owners and partnership have undertaken multiple
Heritage Surveys. These surveys provided both
employment
opportunities
to
numerous
community members and the means to build on
established relationships by increasing knowledge
and understanding of the cultural heritage within
the region.
Finally, we have lodged a Seismic Environmental
Plan with WA’s Department of Mining, Industry
Regulation and Safety (DMIRS), which once
approved will allow the Company to undertake a
130km 2D seismic survey within EP 371, providing
the Company with further data on the sub surface
geology.
Clearly, we have had a busy and very productive
first year and I would like to thank our staff and
contractors for the contributions they have made
to date and recognise the ongoing support of the
traditional owners.
The year ahead looks promising with work to begin
on 2D seismic acquisition and processing,
continuing environmental monitoring and data
collection activities and progressing commercial
discussions and permitting through to the next
stage.
As a fellow shareholder, I look forward to sharing
the journey with you as we seek to commercialise
the Valhalla Project.
Thank you,
Rhett Bennett
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

28 March 2022
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Director’s Report

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021

The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity, consisting of Black Mountain Energy Ltd (“the
Company”, “Black Mountain Energy” or “BME”) and the entities it controlled (collectively “the Group” or “the
Consolidated Entity”) at the end of, or during, the period ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the financial period and until the date of this
report are set out below. Directors were in office from the appointment dates noted below:
Name

Appointed

John Rhett Miles Bennett
Samantha Kay Richardson
Marie Michele Malaxos
Peter Wilson Cramer
Sara Clare Kelly
Ashley Zumwalt Forbes

26 July 2021
26 July 2021
26 July 2021
26 July 2021
20 September 2021
7 February 2022*

* Appointed as an alternative Director to John Rhett Miles Bennett.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity consist of seeking investment and development
opportunities in oil and gas and deploying capital in exploration. There has been no significant change in
those activities during the period.
FINANCIAL RESULTS
The loss for the Consolidated Entity for the period ended 31 December 2021 after providing for income tax
amounted to A$664,000.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid or declared during the financial period. No recommendation for payment of
dividends has been made.
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
•

Successfully completed an IPO, raising A$11 million before costs to develop the Valhalla Gas Project
within EP 371 in WA’s Canning Basin

•

IPO funds will progress EP 371 towards development, including 2D seismic acquisition and
processing, permitting, environmental activities and baseline studies

•

Black Mountain Energy received a domestic gas export exemption from the WA Government
enabling us to commence commercial offtake discussions

•

Heritage Surveys completed in collaboration with two Traditional Owner groups

•

Seismic Survey Environmental Plan lodged with WA Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and
Safety (DMIRS)
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OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES
Black Mountain Energy is developing its key asset, Petroleum Exploration Permit EP 371, known as Project
Valhalla, in Western Australia’s Canning Basin region. EP 371 covers more than 3,660km2 within the Fitzroy
Trough and is situated west of Fitzroy Crossing and south-east of Derby. An Independent Technical Expert
has estimated prospective gas resources of 11.8 trillion cubic feet (TCF) and contingent gas resources of 1.5
TCF (best estimates)1.

1Prospective

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

(ix)
(x)
(xi)
(xii)

Resources Reporting Notes
The prospective resources information in this document is effective as of the Replacement Prospectus
dated 29 October 2021 (Listing Rule (LR) 5.25.1).
The prospective resources information in this document has been estimated and is classified in
accordance with SPE PRMS (Society of Petroleum Engineers Petroleum Resources Management System)
(LR 5.25.2).
The prospective resources information in this document is reported according to the Company’s
economic interest in each of the resources and net of royalties (LR 5.25.5).
The prospective resources information in this document has been estimated and prepared using the
probabilistic method (LR 5.25.6).
The prospective resources information in this document has been estimated using a 0.18233 standard
barrels oil equivalent BOE conversion ratio for gas to oil; this conversion ratio is based on an energy
equivalency conversion method and does not represent value equivalency (LR 5.25.7).
The prospective resources information in this document has been estimated on the basis that products
are sold on the spot market with delivery at the sales point on the production facilities (LR 5.26.5.)
Prospective resources are reported on a best estimate basis (LR 5.28.1).
For prospective resources, the estimated quantities of petroleum that may potentially be recovered by
the application of a future development project(s) relate to undiscovered accumulations. These
estimates have both an associated risk of discovery and a risk of development. Further exploration
appraisal and evaluation is required to determine the existence of a significant quantity of potentially
moveable hydrocarbons (LR 5.28.2)
In respect to the prospective resources referred to in this statement, the Company’s working interest in
EP 371 is 100%.
The prospective resources and the methodology for their estimation is set out in the Replacement
Prospectus dated 29 October 2021
The chance of discovery is considered high due to the nature of the petroleum system and the proximity
of the Prospective Resources to the Contingent Resources already found in EP 371. (LR 5.35.3).
Prospective resources are un-risked and have not been adjusted for an associated chance of discovery
and a chance of development (LR 5.35.4).
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Figure 1: EP 371 in WA's Canning Basin

Domestic gas export exemption granted by WA Government
In September 2021, prior to the Company’s ASX listing, Black Mountain Energy achieved a major milestone
when it was granted an ability to export onshore gas from WA by the WA State Government via the
Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation (JTSI).
The Company believes the project has strong commercialisation prospects and this exemption provides Black
Mountain Energy with the option to export gas, in addition to supplying the WA domestic market, as required
under the state’s reservation policy.
Black Mountain Energy aims to transform the region into an energy hub which will benefit local communities,
Traditional Owners, create thousands of WA jobs and contribute to WA’s GDP by connecting the Canning
Basin gas field to the WA domestic supply network.

Heritage Surveys completed in collaboration with Traditional Owner groups
During the December 2021 quarter, Black Mountain Energy completed multiple Heritage Surveys with two
Traditional Owner groups within EP 371 focusing on the proposed seismic areas, access tracks and potential
future well site areas. These surveys provided both employment opportunities to numerous community
members and the means to build on established relationships by increasing knowledge and understanding
of the cultural heritage within the region. Black Mountain Energy has existing land access and use agreements
with both Traditional Owner groups.
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Seismic Survey Environmental Plan lodged with WA DMIRS
During the period, Black Mountain Energy lodged a Seismic Environmental Plan with WA’s Department of
Mining, Industry Regulation and Safety (DMIRS). Once approved, this will allow the Company to undertake a
130km 2D seismic survey within EP 371 providing the Company with further data on the sub surface geology
and enabling Black Mountain Energy to further interpret and evaluate the resource potential.
Prior to submitting the Environmental Plan, Black Mountain Energy utilised consultants to undertake multiple
flora and fauna surveys specifically focused on the proposed seismic areas. These surveys were undertaken
in accordance with the various EPA Technical Guidance Impact Assessments and no threatened flora or
ecological communities were present, with all vegetation communities well represented. Whilst there were
no direct observations of the Greater Bilby during the surveys, the Company will take a precautionary
approach to its activities and will implement specific Bilby Management Measures to manage this activity.

Covid-19 Pandemic
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has
had, or may have, on the Company based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of
supply chain, staffing and the geographic region in which the Company operates. There does not currently
appear to be a significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect
to events or conditions which may impact the Company unfavourably as at the reporting date or
subsequently because of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

Outlook for 2022
The Company finalised and lodged its Environmental Review Document in early January 2022 with WA
Environmental Protection Authority (EPA). Black Mountain Energy has now moved to the next stage of the
environmental permitting process and is awaiting EPA feedback. The Company will continue to advance this
process throughout 2022.
Black Mountain Energy has formally appointed a seismic contractor during the first quarter of 2022 by
awarding the tender to undertake 130km’s of 2D seismic surveying in 2022.
Black Mountain Energy is continuing to progress discussions with potential offtake partners and pipeline
operators regarding commercialising the Valhalla Gas Project. The company plans to begin pipeline scoping
work in 2Q2022.
The Company undertook several on ground and permitting compliance activities in early 2022 and these will
continue throughout the year.

ESG
At Black Mountain Energy we see ourselves as part of a global community and believe in creating a
sustainable business in which this ethos is threaded throughout all aspects of our interactions. A sustainable
business is one which creates value – for our shareholders, the communities we interact with and operate
within, the wellbeing of our teams and the environment is protected for the benefit of all current and future
generations.
The local community and traditional owners are an integral part of the Black Mountain Energy team. We
value and recognise diversity. It is integral to our business that we foster a fair and equitable working
environment where everyone is treated with dignity and respect.
Black Mountain Energy seeks to develop smart energy for a sustainable world and is committed to achieving
long term sustainable operations. Once in production, we aim to develop project Valhalla as a net-zero
emissions natural gas operation.
BLACK MOUNTAIN ENERGY LTD 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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Black Mountain Energy management, employees and contractors abide by the highest standards of personal
safety and environmental performance, governance, and business conduct.
To demonstrate Black Mountain Energy’s commitment to uphold ethical and sustainable business practices,
an ESG Committee and has been established by the Board and convened to set and monitor ESG targets in
line with international frameworks and local regulation. The ESG Committee is committed to enhanced
reporting and disclosures relating to all material and non-material ESG risks and opportunities, as well as
demonstrating responsibility and accountability of everyone engaged at the Company. The purpose of which
is to ensure Black Mountain Energy has an industry leading ESG scorecard. A formal ESG statement and
reporting program is currently under development.
Prior to listing, ESG and community engagement were well underway with the following actions undertaken
over the last 12-month period:

Environment





Targeted Flora and Fauna Surveys
Baseline monitoring and data collection
Commitment to net zero operation
Environmental Management Plans reviewed

Social
 Employment of local contractors and individual Traditional Owners community members
 Heritage Surveys undertaken
 Support of Traditional Owner AGM’s and Board meetings, including attendance to provide project
updates and financial contributions towards event costs
 Facilitated independent community education sessions relating to proposed activities
 Sponsorship support for community CEO appointed by Traditional Owners
 Provided replacement whitegoods for Community meeting venue
 Provided catering for various community meetings
 Booking community accommodation for staff and contractors when available
 Community sporting donations to the value of $25,000
 Support of local art community by providing supplies
 Implementation of COVID Management Plan

Governance






Female and Age diversity represented on Board of Directors
Board majority are Independent Directors
Corporate Governance Policies in place and approved by the Board
Audit and Risk and ESG Board sub-committees in place
Board Code of Conduct implemented

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Company’s cash position as at 31 December 2021 was A$9,685,000, which will be used towards funding
its work commitments in respect of Exploration Permit EP 371.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Black Mountain Energy is a publicly listed Company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. On 23
December 2021 the Company was admitted to the official list of the Australian Securities Exchange Limited
(“ASX”).

EMPLOYEES
The Company had two full-time employees as at 31 December 2021. Through the Transitional Services
Agreement with Black Mountain Oil & Gas III LLC the Company has access to an operations team consisting
of numerous experienced professionals who have worked in several of the major unconventional shale basins
in the United States and globally. These professionals have supervised the drilling of more than 3,000
unconventional horizontal shale wells throughout their careers.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
The Company was admitted to the ASX on 23 December 2021. The Company successfully purchased Black
Mountain Exploration Australia Pty Ltd (“BMA”) on 13 December 2021 via the issue of 200,000,000 fully paid
ordinary shares providing 100% ownership of EP 371 exploration permit in the Canning Basin, located in
Western Australia. Purchasing BMA enables the Company to have operatorship over this potentially
significant unconventional gas acreage. The Directors are not aware of any other significant changes in the
state of affairs of the Group occurring during the financial year, other than as disclosed in this report.

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
Other than where stated at Note 26 to the Financial Statements, at the date of this report no other matter
or circumstance has arisen between 31 December 2021 and the date of this report that will affect the Group’s
operations, result or state of affairs, or may do so in future years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of
operations have not been included in this report because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in
unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Rhett Bennett BSc in Business Management
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr Bennett has more than 16 years of experience in the exploration, financing,
development, and operation of Natural Resources projects globally. Mr Bennett is the
Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Black Mountain, a group of Natural Resources
companies established in 2007 to create alpha throughout the value chain.
Mr Bennett currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of Black Mountain Oil & Gas III and Black Mountain
Metals. Previously, Mr Bennett was Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Black Mountain Sand, creating
the largest in-basin frac sand provider in the United States. Under Mr Bennett’s leadership, the Company
grew from 1 employee to over 500 employees in two years. The Company executed >US$700 million in capex
projects during this time, and within the first two years of existence had contracted >US$360 million in
annualized EBITDA. Prior to Black Mountain Sand, Mr Bennett served as Founder & Chief Executive Officer of
Black Mountain Oil & Gas I, where he oversaw the deployment of US$115 million in equity acquiring oil & gas
properties throughout southeast New Mexico. Within 16 months of founding the Company, he led the
Company to a sale to Marathon Petroleum Corporation and other buyers for US$700 million, resulting in a
5.5x ROI and 298% internal rate of return.
Mr Bennett has been the recipient of numerous awards in his career: Oil & Gas Investor — Forty under 40,
The Oil & Gas Awards— Future Industry Leader, EY Entrepreneur of the Year — Energy Services & National
Finalist, D CEO Magazine —Oilfield Services Chief Executive Officer of the Year, Fort Worth Inc. Magazine’s
2019 Entrepreneur of Excellence —Energy and University of Georgia’s Forty under 40. Mr Bennett earned his
Bachelor of Science in Business Management from the University of Georgia in 2003 and completed the
Energy Executive Management Program at the University of Oklahoma Michael F. Price College of Business
in 2012.
Mr Bennett is not considered to be an independent Director as he is employed in an executive capacity as
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman. Mr Bennett has a relevant interest in 200,900,001 ordinary
fully paid shares, and 9,131,348 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares. Throughout the past three years
Mr Bennett has not served as a director of any listed companies. Mr Bennett is a member of the ESG
Committee.
Samantha Richardson MBA, GAICD
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
Ms Richardson has over 25 years' experience working in the exploration and mining
sectors, across a range of commodities, both globally and within Australia.
Specialising in sales, marketing and logistics, Ms Richardson’s extensive senior
management experience includes other cross-functional roles such as commercial,
human resources, information technology, sustainability, strategy development and project management.
Ms Richardson is currently responsible for managing Project Valhalla in the Canning Basin and is focused on
environmental and baseline monitoring, permitting, stakeholder engagement, regulatory compliance, and
operational activities. Ms Richardson has an MBA from The Australian Institute of Management and is a
graduate and member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Ms Richardson is not considered to
be an independent Director as she is employed in an executive capacity as an Executive Director and Chief
Operating Officer. Ms Richardson has a relevant interest in 3,844,778 options and 2,475,000 performance
rights to acquire fully paid ordinary shares. Throughout the past three years Ms Richardson has not served
as a director of any listed companies. Ms Richardson is a member of the ESG Committee.
BLACK MOUNTAIN ENERGY LTD 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
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Marie Malaxos DIP Engineering, GAICD
Independent Non-executive Director
Ms Malaxos has over 25 years' experience as a professional executive in the
resources sector, including formerly serving as Chief Operating Officer of Buru
Energy Limited (ASX:BRU) in 2012. Ms Malaxos was a Non-Executive Director for
Bombora Natural Energy Pty Ltd before being voted by shareholders to the Board of
Directors for Pancontinental Energy NL (ASX:PCL). Ms Malaxos resigned from
Pancontinental Energy NL on 21 February 2022.
Ms Malaxos has experience managing all aspects of the development of oil and gas fields including
commercial and budget control, technical oversight, and stakeholder management and liaison. Ms Malaxos
is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the Energy Club of WA.
Ms Malaxos is considered to be an independent Director and is free from any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with, or reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the independent exercise
of the person’s judgement.
Ms Malaxos has a relevant interest in 1,373,135 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares. Throughout
the past three years Ms Malaxos has served as a non-executive Director of Pancontinental Energy NL. Ms
Malaxos is a Chair of the ESG Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee
Peter Cramer BA-Physics, Member SEG, Member AAPG, Member PDA
Independent Non-executive Director
Mr Cramer has over 20 years of global experience leading upstream oil and gas
exploration projects including 15 years in exploration management roles for
ConocoPhillips (NYSE:COP). Mr Cramer has experience managing conventional and
unconventional exploration and appraisal operations including work programs, lease
sales, farm-in trades, and stakeholder engagement globally. Mr Cramer holds multiple Board member seats
including acting as Board treasurer for the Society of Exploration Geophysicists.
Mr Cramer is a member of the Society of Exploration Geophysicists, American Association of Petroleum
Geologists, and Private Directors Association.
Mr Cramer is considered to be an independent Director and is free from any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with, or reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the independent exercise
of the person’s judgement.
Mr Cramer has a relevant interest in 1,373,135 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares. Throughout the
past three years Mr Cramer has not served as a director of any listed companies. Mr Cramer is a member of
the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Sara Kelly LLB, BComm Finance and Marketing
Independent Non-executive Director
Ms Kelly has significant transactional and industry experience having worked in both
private practice, as a corporate advisor, and as in-house counsel. Ms Kelly regularly
acts for ASX listed companies and their Directors and Officers, in relation to capital
raisings, recapitalizations of ASX shells, asset acquisitions and disposals,
Corporations Act and Listing Rules compliance, corporate reconstructions and insolvency, Directors’ duties,
meeting procedure, and general corporate and commercial advice. Ms Kelly is a Partner at Edwards Mac
Scovell, a boutique litigation, insolvency and corporate firm based in Perth, Western Australia. Ms Kelly is
currently the Non-Executive Chair of Midas Minerals Limited (ASX:MM1).
Ms Kelly is considered to be an independent Director and is free from any business or other relationship that
could materially interfere with, or reasonably be perceived to interfere with, the independent exercise of the
person’s judgement.
Ms Kelly has a relevant interest in 1,373,135 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares. Throughout the
past three years Ms Kelly has served as a non-executive Director of Midas Minerals Ltd, Wiluna Mining
Corporation Limited, HSC Technology Group Limited and Ragnar Metals Limited. Ms Kelly is a Chair of the
Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the ESG Committee.
Ashley Zumwalt-Forbes MBA, BSc in Petroleum Engineering
Alternative Director to Rhett Bennett
Ms Zumwalt-Forbes is an engineer with 10 years’ experience in acquiring, financing,
and developing both greenfield and brownfield natural resources projects around
the globe.
Ms Zumwalt-Forbes currently serves as CEO of Black Mountain CarbonLock, a private
carbon negative Company. Ms Zumwalt-Forbes also serves on the Strategic Advisory Board for Metals
Acquisition Corp (NYSE: MTAL), Hennessy Capital’s fifth SPAC (NASDAQ: HCICU), Black Mountain Energy,
TCU’s Energy Institute, and OU’s School of Petroleum Engineering.
Prior to her current role, Ms Zumwalt-Forbes served as Co-Founder, Director, and President of both Black
Mountain Metals, a private battery metals mining Company that was recently successfully sold. Prior to
joining Black Mountain in 2017, Ms Zumwalt-Forbes worked in several Lead Engineering roles at ExxonMobil
and XTO Energy, managing drilling, completions, and planning aspects of international shale exploration,
laying the groundwork for >US$1 billion capital deployment.
Ms Zumwalt-Forbes graduated summa cum laude from the University of Oklahoma with a B.S. in Petroleum
Engineering and holds an MBA from Harvard Business School. Ms Zumwalt-Forbes was highlighted as the
featured honouree on the 2020 Forbes 30 under 30 in Energy list, a 2021 Oil & Gas Investor Forty under 40
award winner, and one of the top 25 women in business in DFW by Dallas Business Journal.
Ms Zumwalt-Forbes has no relevant interest in the Company. Throughout the past three years Ms ZumwaltForbes has not served on any listed companies. Ms Zumwalt-Forbes is a member of the ESG Committee.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY
Alan Cooper CA, BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance
Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company Secretary
Mr Cooper is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland with
extensive experience working in the oil and gas industry in both operated and nonoperated settings. Mr Cooper is a positive business leader with a skillset developed
through exposure to varied business models and mentoring by highly regarded
experts in the oil and gas industry. Mr Cooper has held senior finance roles in both public listed and private
companies in Australia and UK, ranging from SME to Multinational organisations.
Mr Cooper has been actively involved in M&A transactions covering asset and corporate acquisitions with a
combined value exceeding US$1.2 billion.
Ben Donovan BComm (Hons), AGIA, ACIS
Joint Company Secretary
Mr Donovan is a member of the Governance Institute of Australia and provides
corporate advisory, IPO and consultancy services to a number of companies. Mr
Donovan is currently a company secretary of several ASX listed and public unlisted
companies and has gained experience across resources, agritech, biotech, media and
technology industries.
Mr Donovan has extensive experience in listing rules compliance and corporate governance, having served
as a Senior Adviser at the ASX in Perth for nearly 3 years managing the listing of nearly 100 companies on the
ASX. In addition, Mr Donovan has experience in the capital markets having raised capital and assisted
numerous companies on achieving an initial listing on the ASX, as well as for a period of time, as a private
client adviser at a boutique stock broking group.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board committee held during the
financial period, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:
Full Meeting of
Directors
Director
Rhett Bennett2
Samantha

Audit and Risk
Committee

Environmental, Safety and
Governance Committee

Eligible1

Attended

Eligible1

Attended

Eligible1

Attended

Eligible1

Attended

3

3

—

—

—

—

1

1

3

3

—

—

—

—

1

1

Marie

Malaxos2

3

3

—

—

—

—

1

1

Peter

Cramer2

3

3

—

—

—

—

—

—

3

3

—

—

—

—

1

—

Sara Kelly

3

Richardson2

Remuneration and
Nomination Committee

1 Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee during the period. Excludes meetings
held via circular resolution.
2 Appointed 26 July 2021
3 Appointed 20 September 2021
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SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Options granted during or since the end of the financial period to Directors and Executives of the
Company as part of their remuneration are:
Name of director and
executive

Date granted

Vesting Dates

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

Number of options
granted

Rhett Bennett

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

9,131,348

Samantha Richardson

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

3,844,778

Marie Malaxos

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

1,373,135

Peter Cramer

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

1,373,135

Sara Kelly

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

1,373,135

Alan Cooper

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

3,203,982

(b) Performance rights granted during or since the end of the financial period to Directors and Executives
of the Company as part of their remuneration are:
Name of director and
executive

Date granted

Vesting Dates

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

Number of options
granted

Samantha Richardson

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

nil

16 Dec 2025

2,475,000

Alan Cooper

23 Dec 2021

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

nil

16 Dec 2025

2,062,500

SHARES ISSUED DURING AND SINCE REPORTING DATE
During or since the reporting period, 255,000,001 ordinary shares were issued by Black Mountain Energy
Ltd.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Consolidated Entity is subject to environmental regulations under the Australian Commonwealth or
State Law and under local laws in jurisdictions it operates. The Group holds an exploration licence issued
by the relevant government authorities which contain conditions which relate to the full rehabilitation of
the areas of exploration in accordance with regulatory guidelines and standards. The Directors are not
aware of any breaches of the licence conditions or environmental regulations during or since the end of the
financial year. The Group is committed to meeting environmental and land use regulations, including native
title requirements.
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company has entered into an agreement to indemnify all Directors and Officers against any liability
arising from a claim brought by a third party against the Company. The Company has paid premiums of
$51,242 to insure each Director and Officer against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in
defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director and
Officer of the Company, other than as a result of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the
Company.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Company for all or any part of these proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings
during the year.
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’
of amounts in the Directors’ report. Amounts in the Directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance
with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.
INDEMNIFICATION OF AUDITORS
The Company has not provided any insurance or indemnification for the Auditor of the Company.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
During the period, KPMG, the Group’s auditor, performed certain other services in addition to its statutory
audit duties. Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for services other than the Group audit
provided during the period are set out below.
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied
that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and did not compromise the general principles
relating to auditor independence in accordance with APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.
2021
KPMG Australian firm:
(i)

$

Taxation services
Initial public offering tax services

46,050
46,050

(ii)

Other audit services
Initial public offering audit services

89,463

Total remuneration for non statutory audit services

89,463

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 is set out on page 24.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT
This report may contain certain forward-looking statements and projections regarding estimated, resources
and reserves; planned production and operating costs profiles; planned capital requirements; and planned
strategies and corporate objectives. Such forward looking statements/projections are estimates for
discussion purposes only and should not be relied upon. They are not guarantees of future performance and
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors many of which are beyond the control of
Black Mountain Energy Ltd. The forward-looking statements/projections are inherently uncertain and may
therefore differ materially from results ultimately achieved. Black Mountain Energy does not make any
representations and provides no warranties concerning the accuracy of the projections and disclaims any
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements/projections based on new information, future
events or otherwise except to the extent required by applicable laws. While the information contained in this
report has been prepared in good faith, neither Black Mountain Energy or any of its directors, officers, agents,
employees, or advisors give any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the fairness, accuracy,
completeness or correctness of the information, opinions and conclusions contained in this report.
Accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted by law, none of Black Mountain Energy, its directors,
employees or agents, advisers, nor any other person accepts any liability whether direct or indirect, express,
or limited, contractual, tortuous, statutory or otherwise, in respect of, the accuracy or completeness of the
information or for any of the opinions contained in this report or for any errors, omissions or misstatements
or for any loss, howsoever arising, from the use of this report.

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT
Black Mountain Energy has presented the Contingent Resource and Prospective Resource information in this
document in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the 2018 Petroleum Resources Management System
published by the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE-PRMS).
The Contingent Resource estimates and Prospective Resource estimates presented in this document were
originally disclosed to the market in the Replacement Prospectus dated 29 October 2021. Black Mountain
Energy confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information
included in the aforesaid market announcement and that all the material assumptions and technical
parameters underpinning the estimates in the aforesaid market announcement continue to apply and have
not materially changed.
The information in this document that relates to Contingent Resource and Prospective Resource information
in relation to EP 371 is based on information compiled by technical employees of independent consultants,
Molyneux Advisors Pty Ltd, which information was subsequently reviewed by Mr Hong Feng Wu.
Mr Hong Feng Wu has consented to the inclusion of such information in this document in the form and
context in which it appears and the resources information in this report is based on, and fairly represents,
information and supporting documentation reviewed by, or prepared under the supervision of, Mr Hong
Feng Wu. Mr Hong Feng Wu is a Director of Molyneux Advisors Pty Ltd and has a has a B.Sc. Geology and MS
in Sedimentology, University of Petroleum China (Beijing), an MBA from the Sun-Yat-sen University (MIT
Sloan School of Business). Hong Feng Wu is a (Full) member of Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers
(SPEE #1021) and a member of Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE # 5084882). Mr Hong Feng Wu is qualified
in accordance with the requirements in ASX Listing Rule 5.41.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This Remuneration Report for the period 26 July to 31 December 2021 (“the period”) outlines the
remuneration arrangements of the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth), as amended (the Act). This information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.
The remuneration report is presented under the following sections:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.
H.
I.
A.

Directors and Key Management Personnel (KMP)
Remuneration Overview
Remuneration Policy
Remuneration Governance
Long Term Incentive Plan – Employee Securities Incentive Plan (ESIP)
Realised Remuneration – Voluntary information not audited (Non-IFRS)
Remuneration Details – Statutory tables
Executive Service Agreements
Non-Executive Director Fee Arrangements

Directors and Key Management Personnel (KMP)
The Directors and key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity during the period and up to
signing date of the annual report were:

Current Directors:
Mr Rhett Bennett,1,4
Ms Samantha Richardson1, 5
Ms Marie Malaxos1
Mr Peter Cramer1
Ms Sara Kelly2
Ms Ashley Zumwalt- Forbes3

Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Alternative Director to Rhett Bennett

Other Key Management Personnel:
Mr Alan Cooper6
1
2
3
4
5

6

Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company Secretary

Appointed as Director 26 July 2021
Appointed as Director 20 September 2021
Appointed as Alternative Director to Rhett Bennett 7 February 2022
Appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Black Mountain Energy Ltd on 23 December 2021.
Appointed as Chief Operating Officer of Black Mountain Energy Ltd on 13 December 2021. Previously employed by Bennett Resources Pty Ltd
(subsidiary of Black Mountain Energy Ltd)
Appointed as Chief Financial Officer of Black Mountain Energy Ltd on 13 December 2021. Previously employed by Bennett Resources Pty Ltd
(subsidiary of Black Mountain Energy Ltd)
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B.

Remuneration Overview
Black Mountain Energy’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, motivate, and retain high
performing individuals and is linked to the Group’s objectives to build long term shareholder value.
In doing so, Black Mountain Energy adopts a pay for performance culture which is balanced by a fair
and equitable approach to the retention and motivation of its team.
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder value, the Board have regarded
the following indices in respect to financial performance:
Loss per share ($): 0.02
Net loss ($): 664,000
Share price on 31 December 2021 (cents): 15.50

C.

Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy of the Company is to pay its Directors and Executives amounts in line with
employment market conditions relevant to the oil and gas industry whilst reflecting Black Mountain
Energy’s specific circumstances. The Company’s remuneration practices, and its short term and longterm incentive plans are focussed on creating strong linkages between shareholder value as
measured by shareholder returns and Executive remuneration. Consequently, a major component of
Executive incentives will be the Employee Securities Incentive Plan (ESIP).

For the period up to and ending on 31 December 2021, the remuneration of Directors and Executives
consisted of the following key elements:
Non-Executive Directors:
1. Fees including statutory superannuation; and
2. Participation in long term incentive scheme (ESIP).
Executives, including Executive Directors:
1. Annual salary including statutory superannuation;
2. Participation in a long-term incentive scheme (ESIP); and
3. There are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any Executive’s contract.
D.

Remuneration Governance
The Board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee Charter which provides a framework for
the consideration of remuneration matters.
The Company did not have a separate Remuneration Committee for the full year and as such all
remuneration matters are considered by the Board as a whole, with no member deliberating or
considering such matter in respect of their own remuneration.

E.

Long Term Incentive Plan – Employee Securities Incentive Plan (ESIP)
Black Mountain Energy adopted an Employee Securities Incentive Plan (ESIP) on 14 October 2021 in
preparation to becoming a publicly listed Company. The ESIP is a major component of Executive
incentives and, in developing the Employee Rights Plan, the Board focused on creating strong
linkages between shareholder value and Executive remuneration.
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F.

Realised Remuneration – Voluntary information not audited (Non-IFRS)
Table 1 identifies the Realised Remuneration received by Directors and Senior Executives in respect
of the financial period. Realised Remuneration reflects the take home remuneration of the Directors
and Executive and includes:
• Total fixed remuneration inclusive of Company superannuation contributions;
• Any short-term Incentive awarded as cash for the financial period but paid after the end of
the financial period;
• The value of ESIP share rights in the period

The table below has been provided to assist shareholders to understand the remuneration received in
respect of the financial period ending 31 December 2021. The table is a voluntary disclosure and as such has
not been prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standards or
Corporations Act 2001. See Table 2 for Director and Executive KMP remuneration in accordance with these
requirements.
Table 1: Realised Remuneration – Voluntary information (Non-IFRS)
Total Fixed
Remuneration3
$

STI (Cash)
$

Superannuation
contributions
$

Total
$

2021

2,554

—

—

2,554

2021

2,554

—

255

2,809

2021

2,554

—

255

2,809

Rhett Bennett2

2021

7,661

—

—

7,661

Samantha Richardson1

2021

17,636

—

1,630

19,266

Alan Cooper1

2021

14,696

—

1,359

16,055

2021
Compensation commenced 13 December 2021
Compensation commenced 23 December 2021
Includes salary and annual leave

47,655

—

3,499

51,154

Period

Non-Executive Directors
Peter Cramer1
Marie

Malaxos1

Sara Kelly

1

Executives

Total Directors and Executive KMP
1
2
3

The amounts disclosed above are not the same as the remuneration expensed in relation to each KMP in
accordance with the accounting standards ($382,428 for 2021, see Table 2 below). The directors believe
that the remuneration received is more relevant to users for the following reasons:
• The statutory remuneration expensed is based on fair value determined at grant date but does not
reflect the fair value of the equity instruments when they are actually received by the KMPs.
• The statutory remuneration shows benefits before they are actually received by the KMPs, noting
that some components of the remuneration may not be received at all.
• Share-based payment awards are treated differently under the accounting standards depending on
whether the performance conditions are market conditions (no reversal of expense) or non-market
conditions (reversal of expense where shares fail to vest), even though the benefit received by the KMP
is the same (nil where equity instruments fail to vest).
The accuracy of information in this section has been audited together with the rest of the remuneration
report.
BLACK MOUNTAIN ENERGY LTD 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

19

Remuneration Report (Audited)
G.

Remuneration Details – Statutory Tables

Table 2: Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Short Term

Period

ShareLong Term
Based
Benefits Payments

Post-Employment

NonSalary and Short term monetary Superannuation Terminatio
annual leave incentives benefits3
Contributions n Benefits
$

$

$

$

Performance
rights &
(Accrued)
options

Variable
Remuneration

LSL

$

$

$

Total

Percent of
Remuneration

$

%

Non-Executive Directors
Peter Cramer1

2021

2,554

—

1,553

—

—

—

16,014

20,121

80%

Marie Malaxos1

2021

2,554

—

1,553

255

—

—

16,014

20,376

79%

Kelly1

2021

2,554

—

1,553

255

—

—

16,014

20,376

79%

2021

7,662

—

4,659

510

—

—

48,042

60,873

2021

7,661

—

1,553

—

—

—

106,500

115,714

92%

288

Sara

Sub-total
Executives
Rhett Bennett2
Samantha Richardson1

2021

17,636

—

1,553

1,630

—

91,029

112,136

81%

Alan Cooper1

2021

14,696

—

1,553

1,359

—

240

75,857

93,705

81%

Sub-total

2021

39,993

—

4,659

2,989

—

528

273,386

321,555

Total Remuneration

2021

47,655

—

9,318

3,499

—

528

321,428

382,428

1
2
3

Compensation commenced 13 December 2021
Compensation commenced 23 December 2021
Represents Directors’ and Officers’ insurance premiums expensed during the period

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of unlisted options granted to
Directors and key management personnel during the period:
Grant date

23 Dec 20211
1

Expiry date

23 Dec 2025

Fair value
per option

$0.125

Exercise
price

$0.286

Estimated
volatility

100%

Risk free
interest rate

0.51%

Dividend
yield

—

Vesting dates
1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

The value of unlisted options is calculated as the fair value of the options at grant date and allocated to remuneration equally over the period from
grant date to expected vesting date.

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of performance rights granted
to Directors and key management personnel during the period:
Grant Date

23 Dec 20212
2

Expiry Date

16 Dec 2025

Fair Value
Per Right

$0.20

Exercise
Price

nil

Estimated
Volatility

100%

Risk Free
Interest Rate

0.51%

Dividend
yield

—

Vesting dates
1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

The value of performance rights is calculated as the fair value of the rights at grant date and allocated to remuneration equally over the period from
grant date to expected vesting date.
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Table 3: Share Based Compensation – Unlisted Options Granted to Directors and Key Management Personnel
during the Period
Average
Fair Value at Average Exercise
Grant Date Price Per Option

Year

Number of Options
Granted

Grant Date

Peter Cramer

2021

1,373,135

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Marie Malaxos

2021

1,373,135

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Sara Kelly

2021

1,373,135

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Sub-total

2021

4,119,405

Rhett Bennett

2021

9,131,348

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Samantha Richardson

2021

3,844,778

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Alan Cooper

2021

3,203,982

23 Dec 2021

$0.125

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

Sub-total

2021

16,180,108

Total

2021

20,299,513

Expiry Date

Non-Executive Directors

Executives

The number of Options to ordinary shares in the Company under the Executive Share Option Plan held during
the financial period by key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally
related parties, are set out below:
Table 4: Options Holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Year

Number of
Options
Held at
Start of
Period

Peter Cramer

2021

—

1,373,135

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

1,373,135

16,014

Marie Malaxos

2021

—

1,373,135

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

1,373,135

16,014

Sara Kelly

2021

—

1,373,135

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

1,373,135

16,014

Sub-total

2021

—

4,119,405

—

—

4,119,405

48,042

Rhett Bennett

2021

—

9,131,348

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

9,131,348

106,500

Samantha Richardson

2021

—

3,844,778

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

3,844,778

44,843

Alan Cooper

2021

—

3,203,982

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

3,203,982

37,369

Sub-total

2021

—

16,180,108

$0.286

23 Dec 2025

—

—

16,180,108

188,712

20,299,513

236,754

Share Op�ons

Options Exercise
Granted
Price

Cancelled
Exercised
Number of
or Expired
and Options Held at
During the Converted to End of Period
Period
Shares
(Unvested)
Expiry Date

Vesting
expense
during the
period

Non-Executive Directors

Executives

Total

20,299,513
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Table 5: Share Based Compensation – Performance Rights Granted to Directors and Key Management
Personnel during the Period

Year

Number of
Performance Rights
Granted

Average
Average
Fair Value at Exercise Price
Grant Date
Per Right
Grant Date

16 Dec 2025

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

16 Dec 2025

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

Samantha Richardson
2021

2,475,000

23 Dec 2021

$0.20

nil

Alan Cooper

Total

2021

2,062,500

2021

4,537,500

23 Dec 2021

$0.20

nil

Vesting dates

Expiry Date

The maximum number of rights to ordinary shares in the Company under the long-term incentive plan held
during the financial period by other key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their
personally related parties, are set out below:
Table 6: Performance Rights Holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel
Number of
Rights Held at
Exercise
Year Start of Period Rights Granted
Price

Rights

Cancelled
Exercised
or Expired
and
During the Converted to
Expiry Date
Period
Shares

Number of
Rights Held at
End of Period
(Unvested)

Vesting
expense
during the
period

Samantha Richardson 2021

—

2,475,000

nil

16 Dec 2025

—

—

2,475,000

46,186

Alan Cooper

2021

—

2,062,500

Nil

16 Dec 2025

—

—

2,062,500

38,488

Total

2021

—

4,537,500

—

—

4,537,500

84,674

Table 7: Shareholdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel (Ordinary Shares)

Year

Held at
Beginning of
Period

Held at
Date of
Appointment

Shares
Acquired

Exercise
of Rights

Net
Change
Other

Held at
End of
Period

Peter Cramer

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Marie Malaxos

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Sara Kelly

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Sub-total

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Rhett Bennett1

2021

1

1

200,900,000

—

—

200,900,001

Samantha Richardson

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Alan Cooper

2021

—

—

—

—

—

—

Sub-total

2021

1

1

200,900,000

—

—

200,900,001

1

1

200,900,000

—

—

200,900,001

Non-Executive Directors

Executives

Total
1 900,001

held direct by Rhett Bennett and 200,000,000 held by entities controlled by Rhett Bennett.
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H.

Executive Service Agreements
The details of service agreements of the key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity are as
follows:

Table 8: Key Management Personnel Service Agreements
Term of agreement expires

Total Annual Fixed
Remuneration1

Chief Executive Officer

No fixed term

$150,000

12 months from both
Employee and Company

Samantha Richardson

Chief Operations Officer

No fixed term

$330,000

3 months from Employee and
12 months from Company

Alan Cooper

Chief Financial Officer

No fixed term

$275,000

3 months from both Employee
and Company

Name

Position

Rhett Bennett

Notice period2,3

Total Annual Fixed Remuneration includes compulsory superannuation contributions.
In certain exceptional circumstances (such as breach or gross misconduct) a shorter notice period applies.
No termination payments other than for services rendered at time of termination.

1
2
3

I.

Non-Executive Director Fee Arrangements
The Company has engaged all Directors pursuant to written service agreements. The terms of
appointment are subject to the Company’s constitution. The Company maintains an appropriate level
of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and provide rights relating to indemnity, insurance, and
access to documents.

The table below summarises the Non-Executive Director fees per annum for 2021. Non-Executive Directors
received compensation from 13 December 2021 during the period.
Board Fees (per annum)
Non-Executive Director

$50,000

Under the Company’s constitution, in a general meeting the Company may determine the maximum
aggregate remuneration to be provided to or for the benefit of the Non-Executive Directors as remuneration
for their services as a Director. Further, under the ASX Listing Rules, the total amount of directors’ fees paid
to the Directors (subject to certain exceptions) must not exceed in aggregate in any financial year the amount
fixed by the Company’s members in general meeting. As at the report date the maximum aggregate
remuneration is $500,000. No fees are payable for committee positions held. The Directors receive
superannuation benefits in accordance with legislative requirements.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Rhett Bennett
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
28 March 2022
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
31 December 2021
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These Financial Statements are the consolidated financial statements of the Group, consisting of Black
Mountain Energy Ltd and its subsidiaries.
The Financial Statements are presented in Australian currency.
Black Mountain Energy Ltd is a Company Ltd by shares, incorporated, and domiciled in Australia. Its registered
office and principal place of business is Level 14, 225 St Georges Terrace, Perth, WA 6000.
A description of the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in
the review of operations and activities on pages 4 to 9. These pages are not part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 28 March 2022. The Directors have
the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
With the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely and complete. Press releases,
financial reports and other information are available via the links on our website:
www.blackmountainenergy.com
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021

NOTE

26 JULY 2021 TO
31 DECEMBER
2021
$’000

Income
Interest income

1

Total income

1

Expenses
Exploration expense
Depreciation and amortisation

(77)
3

General and administrative expenses net of recoveries
Share based employment benefits

(2)
(183)

24(c)

Foreign exchange gain

(321)
2

Cost of listing

(84)

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense/(benefit)

(664)
4

Net loss for the period

—
(664)

Other comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax

—

Total comprehensive loss for the period

(664)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of
the parent entity

(664)

Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity
holders of the Company:
Basic loss per share ($)

16

(0.02)

Diluted loss per share ($)

16

(0.02)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December 2021

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

NOTE

2021
$’000

6
7

9,685
510

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration assets
Other financial assets

10,195
8
9
10

74
42,762
75

Total non-current assets

42,911

Total assets

53,106

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

11
12

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

494
69
563

12

2,695

Total non-current liabilities

2,695

Total liabilities

3,258

Net assets

49,848

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

13(a)
14
15

Total equity

50,191
321
(664)
49,848

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021

NOTE

Contributed
Equity
$’000

Reserves
$’000

Accumulated
Losses
$’000

Total
$’000

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

(664)
—

(664)
—

—

—

(664)

(664)

Balance at 26 July 2021
Total loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

15

Total comprehensive loss for
the period
Contributed equity

13

51,000

—

—

51,000

Share issue costs

13

(809)

—

—

(809)

Share based payments

24

—

321

—

321

50,191

321

—

50,512

50,191

321

(664)

49,848

Balance at 31 December 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021
NOTE

26 JULY 2021 TO
31 DECEMBER 2021
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments for exploration expenditure
Payments to other suppliers and employees
Payments for listing costs
Net cash outflow from operating activities

(173)
(220)
(212)
20

(605)

21

241

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash received on acquisition of Black Mountain Exploration
Australia Pty Ltd

241

Net cash inflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity securities
Transaction costs related to issues of equity securities
Repayment of borrowings

11,000
(809)
(142)

Net cash inflow from financing activities

10,049

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

9,685

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial
period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period

6

9,685

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 26 July to 31 December 2021
NOTE 1: REPORTING ENTITY
Black Mountain Energy Ltd (the “Company” or “BME”) is a Company domiciled in Australia and was
incorporated on 26th July 2021. The address of the Company's registered office is Level 14, 225 St Georges
Terrace, Perth WA 6000 Australia.
The Company is a for-profit entity and primarily is involved in the acquisition and development of natural
resource projects and exploration for, and production of oil and gas. The financial information in these
consolidated financial statements is for the period since incorporation on 26 July 2021 to 31 December 2021,
hence there is no comparative information.
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise
stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Black Mountain Energy Ltd (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group” or “the Consolidated Entity”).
(a) Basis of Preparation
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board. This is the first financial statements of the Company presented
externally in accordance with AASBs. As a result, the Company has applied AASB 1 First-Time
adoption of Australian Accounting Standards. Accordingly, there are no comparative balances. No
adjustments were recognized on adoption of AASB 1 First-time adoption of Australian Accounting
Standards. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
Rounding of Amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’
of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off in
accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
(i) Going Concern
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis which
contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and
settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Group recorded a net loss for the
period of $664,000, had a net positive cash flow of $9,685,000 and had an overall net current
asset position at 31 December 2021 of $9,632,000. The Board and management monitor the
Group’s cash flow requirements to ensure it has sufficient funds to meet its contractual
commitments and adjusts its spending, particularly with respect to discretionary exploration
activity and corporate expenditures. Supported by the cash assets at 31 December 2021 of
$9,685,000, the Group forecasts that over at least the next 12 months, it will have sufficient funds
to meet its commitments and continue to pay its debts as and when they fall due. In line with
industry practice, the Group would consider a combination of financing arrangements to meet
future commitments, including but not limited to; borrowings, gas presales, farmouts and equity
from new and existing shareholders. Accordingly, the Directors believe the going concern
assumption is appropriate.
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(a) Basis of Preparation (continued)
(ii) Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group also comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
(iii) Early Adoption of Standards
The Group has not applied any pronouncements to the annual reporting period beginning on 1
January 2022 where such application would result in them being applied prior to them becoming
mandatory.
(iv) Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimate Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions regarding carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. Key judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies are
required in the following areas:
Rehabilitation Obligations
The Group recognises any obligations for removal and restoration that are incurred during a
particular period because of exploration and evaluation activity. The Group makes provision for
future restoration expenditure relating to work previously undertaken based on management’s
estimation of the work required and by obtaining cost estimates from relevant experts. Further
information on the nature and carrying amount of restoration and rehabilitation obligations can
be found in Note 12.
Share-based Payments
The Group is required to use assumptions in respect of its fair value models, and the variable
elements in these models, used in attributing a value to share based payments. The Directors
have used a model to value options and rights, which requires estimates and judgements to
quantify the inputs used by the model. Further information on the assumptions used in
determining the fair value of rights and options granted during the period can be found in
Section G of the Remuneration Report and Note 24.
Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on
several factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the lease itself or, if not, whether
it successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation expenditure through sale. Factors
that impact recoverability may include, but are not limited to, the level of resources and
reserves, the cost of production, regulatory changes, and commodity price movements.
Acquisition expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a
stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves. To the extent that the capitalised acquisition expenditure is determined
not to be recoverable in future, profits and net assets will be reduced in the period in which this
determination is made. Further information on the carrying value of capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditure can be found in Note 9.
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(a) Basis of Preparation (continued)
Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement in relation to the
types of arrangements considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost.
Judgement is also made in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax
liabilities are recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those
arising from un-recouped tax losses and capital losses, are recognised only where it is considered
more likely than not, they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient
future taxable profits.
Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation. These judgements
and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility changes in
circumstances will alter expectation, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the amount of other
tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of
the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment,
resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income.
(b) Principles of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Black
Mountain Energy Ltd (“the Company” or “Parent Entity”) as at 31 December and the results of all
subsidiaries for the period then ended. Black Mountain Energy Ltd and its subsidiaries together are
referred to in this financial report as “the Group” or “the Consolidated Entity”.
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and can affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method is used to account for
business combinations by the Group.
Intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group entities
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Non-controlling interests (if applicable) in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively.
(c) Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in Note 17 in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision makers, who are
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, have
been identified as the Executive Management Team.
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(d) Foreign Currency Translation
(i)

Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is
Black Mountain Energy Ltd’s functional currency and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.
(e) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised in the income statement when the
performance obligations are considered met, which is when the Group transfers control of goods or
services to a customer. Revenue is recognised at the amount to which the Group expects to be
entitled. If the consideration promised includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.
(i)

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that considers the effective yield on
the financial assets.

(f)

Income Tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
(i)

Current Tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the period and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax liability arising from dividends.

(ii) Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow the way the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only if certain criteria are met. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses,
tax credits and deductible temporary
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(f)

Income Tax (continued)
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Tax exposures
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Company considers the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future
events. New information may become available that causes the Company to change its
judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will
impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
(iii) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except where the GST
incurred on the purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense item as applicable and receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST
included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as
part of receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. Cash flows
are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Leases
Recognition and measurement
When a contract is entered, the Group assesses whether the contract contains a lease. A lease arises
when the Group has the right to direct the use of an identified asset which is not substitutable and
to obtain substantially all economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period of use.
The leases recognised by the Group predominantly relate to property. The Group separates the lease
and non-lease components of the contract and accounts for these separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component based on their relative stand-alone prices.
Leases as a lessee
Lease assets and lease liabilities are recognised at the lease commencement date, which is when the
assets are available for use. The assets are initially measured at cost, which is the present value of
future lease payments adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
plus any make-good obligations and initial direct costs incurred. Lease assets are depreciated using
the straight-line method over the shorter of their useful life and the lease term. Periodic adjustments
are made for any re-measurements of the lease assets and for impairment losses, assessed in
accordance with the Group’s impairment policies. Lease liabilities are initially measured at the
present value of future minimum lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate if the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate. Minimum lease payments are fixed
payments or index-based variable payments incorporating the Group’s expectations of extension
options and do not include non-lease components of a contract.
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(g) Leases (continued)
Short term leases and leases of low value
Short term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as
incurred as an expense in the consolidated income statement. Low value assets comprise plant and
equipment.
(h) Impairment of Assets
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
(i)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of 3 months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(j)

Other Financial Assets
(i)

Classification
The Group’s financial assets consist of receivables and security deposits. These are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12
months after the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. Receivables are
included in trade and other receivables (Note 7) in the balance sheet. Amounts paid as
performance bonds or amounts held as security for bank guarantees are classified as other
financial assets (Note 10).

(ii) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Group considers
an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for its financial assets. The Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECLs which is based on an assessment on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the counterparty and the economic
environment.

BLACK MOUNTAIN ENERGY LTD 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

35

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(k) Property, Plant and Equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss
during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a reducing balance
basis to write off the net costs of each asset over the expected useful life. The assets' residual values
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date. An asset's carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the profit or loss. The expected
useful life for each class of depreciable assets is:
Class of Fixed Asset
Buildings

40 years

Leasehold Improvements

2 – 6 years

Plant and Equipment

2 – 30 years

Motor Vehicles

(l)

Expected Useful Life

3 years

Exploration Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of each area of interest is accounted for using the
successful efforts method of accounting. The successful efforts method requires all exploration and
evaluation expenditure to be expensed in the period it is incurred, except the costs of drilling
successful wells and the costs of acquiring interests in new exploration assets, and appraisal costs
relating to determining development feasibility, which are capitalised as an asset.
An exploration/appraisal well is unsuccessful if no recoverable hydrocarbons are identified, or the
Board considers that the hydrocarbons are not commercially viable. Where hydrocarbon resources
exist, the costs of successful wells may remain capitalised where further appraisal of the discovery is
planned. If this further appraisal does not lead to the discovery of commercially recoverable reserves,
all these costs would be impaired. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is accumulated on a wellby-well basis and may be carried forward at the end of a reporting period, pending determination.
An area of interest refers to an individual geological area where the presence of oil or a natural gas
field is considered favourable or has been proved to exist, and in most cases will comprise an
individual prospective oil or gas field. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recognised in relation
to an area of interest when the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and either:
•
•

such expenditure is expected to be recovered through successful development and
commercial exploitation of the area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale; or
the exploration activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves and active and
significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.
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(l)

Exploration Expenditure (continued)
Where an ownership interest in an exploration and evaluation asset is exchanged for another, the
transaction is recognised by reference to the carrying value of the original interest. Any cash
consideration paid, including transaction costs, is accounted for as an acquisition of exploration and
evaluation assets. Any cash consideration received, net of transaction costs, is treated as a
recoupment of costs previously capitalised with any excess accounted for as a gain on disposal of
non-current assets. The carrying amounts of the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether any of the following indicators of impairment
exists:
•
•
•

•

tenure over the licence area has expired during the period or will expire in the near future,
and is not expected to be renewed; or
substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of resources in the specific
area is not budgeted or planned; or
exploration for and evaluation of resources in the specific area has not led to the discovery
of commercially viable quantities of resources, and the Group has decided to discontinue
activities in the specific area; or
sufficient data exists to indicate that although a development is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full
from successful development or from sale.

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made and
any resultant impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. When a discovered oil or gas
field enters the development phase the accumulated exploration and evaluation expenditure is
transferred to oil and gas assets. Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation
expenditure capitalised requires estimates and judgements as to future events and circumstances,
in particular, whether successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective
area of interest is likely. Critical to this assessment are estimates and assumptions as to the timing of
expected cash flows, exchange rates, commodity prices and future capital requirements. If, after
having capitalised the expenditure a judgement is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely,
an impairment loss is recorded in the income statement.
(m) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial period which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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(n) Provisions
(i)

Restoration and Rehabilitation
The Group records the present value of the estimated cost of legal and constructive obligations
to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation arises. The nature of
restoration activities includes the removal of facilities, abandonment of wells and restoration of
affected areas.
A restoration provision is recognised and updated at different stages of the development and
construction of a facility and then reviewed on an annual basis. When the liability is initially
recorded, the present value of the estimated future cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying
amount of the related property plant and equipment. Over time, the liability is increased for the
change in the present value based on a pre-tax discount rate appropriate to the risks inherent
in the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recorded as an accretion charge within finance
costs.
The carrying amount capitalised in property plant and equipment is depreciated over the useful
life of the related producing asset (refer to Note 2(k)).
Costs incurred that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not have a
future economic benefit are expensed.

(ii) Other
Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation because of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as accretion expense.
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(o) Employee Benefits
(i)

Short term Obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service
leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the
end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and long service leave is recognised in the
provision for employee benefits. All other short term employee benefit obligations are
presented as payables.

(ii) Long term Employee Benefit Obligations
The liability for long service leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the
provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period with terms to maturity and currency that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(iii) Share-based Payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees of Black Mountain Energy Ltd.
The fair value of options or rights granted is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of the rights or options granted, which includes any market performance
conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of rights or
options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of rights or options that are expected
to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
(iv) Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of AASB 137 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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(p)

Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and measured at the fair value of the consideration received.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(q)

Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed
at the end of the reporting period.

(r)

Earnings Per Share
(i)

Basic Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period.

(ii) Diluted Earnings Per Share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the exercise of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
(s)

Parent Entity Financial Information
The financial information for the Parent Entity, Black Mountain Energy Ltd, disclosed in Note 18, has
been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements except for investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities which are accounted for at cost in the financial
statements of Black Mountain Energy Ltd.

(t)

Business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:
•

fair values of the assets transferred;

•

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

•

equity interests issued by the Group;

•

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and

•

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with Ltd exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-byacquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.
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(t)

Business Combinations (continued)
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

(u)

Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards, amendments of standards and interpretations have recently been
issued but are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group as at the financial reporting
date. The Group has reviewed these standards and interpretations and has determined that none of
the new or amended standards will significantly affect the Group’s accounting policies, financial
position or performance.
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations adopted
A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2021 but they do not have a material effect
on the Group's financial statements.

3.

EXPENSES
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses
NOTE
Depreciation
Plant and equipment
Total depreciation
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2

41

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

INCOME TAX
This note provides an analysis of the Group’s income tax expense, shows what amounts are
recognised directly in equity and how the tax credit is affected by non-assessable and non-deductible
items. It also explains significant estimates made in relation to the Group’s tax position.

(a)

Income tax expense

26 JULY 2021 TO
31 DECEMBER 2021
$’000

Current tax
Deferred tax

—
—

Income tax expense

—

(Loss) before income tax expense
Prima facie tax benefit at 26%
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating
taxable income:
Share based payments
Sub-total

(664)
(173)

96
(77)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

77

Income tax expense

—

(b)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised

7,861

Potential tax benefit at 26%

2,043

Unutilized tax losses include those from the consolidated tax group which Black Mountain Energy is
the head. These losses were acquired as part of the acquisition of Black Mountain Exploration
Australia (see note 21) and for which the company has placed no value given there is not yet an
expectation of future taxable income for which to utilise these losses.
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5.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
The following fees were paid or payable for services provided by KPMG Australia, the auditor of the
Company, its related practices and non-related audit firms:
2021
$
Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of Group financial statements
Initial public offering audit services

50,500
89,463
139,963

Taxation services
Initial public offering

46,050
46,050

Total remuneration of KPMG

6.

186,013

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2021
$’000
Cash at bank and in hand

9,685

Made up as follows:
Corporate (a)

9,685
9,685

a)

$8,000,000 of this balance is held in a 31-day notice saver account.
(i) Risk exposure
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 25(c). The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents.

7.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

2021
$’000

Other receivables

196

Prepayments

314

510
Due to the nature of the Group’s receivables, their carrying values are considered to approximate
their fair values. The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses
(refer Note 25(a)).
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8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
Equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

—
—
16
(1)

—
—
60
(1)

—
—
76
(2)

Closing net book amount

15

59

74

At 31 December 2021
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

16
(1)

60
(1)

76
(2)

Net book amount

15

59

74

Period ended 31 December 2021
Opening net book amount
Additions
Acquired during the period (Note 21)
Depreciation charge

9.

Furniture and
fittings
$’000

EXPLORATION ASSETS
2021
$’000

10.

Acquisition costs of right to explore

42,762

Movement for the period:
Balance at the beginning of the period
Acquired during the period (Note 21)

—
42,762

Balance at the end of the period

42,762

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2021
$’000
Non-Current

Term deposit
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11.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2021
$’000

Current
Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals

270
30
194
494

Trade payables are usually non-interest bearing provided payment is made within the terms of credit.
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to liquidity and currency risks related to trade and other payables
is disclosed in Note 25.

12.

PROVISIONS
2021
Employee entitlements (a)
Restoration and rehabilitation (b)

CURRENT
$’000

NON-CURRENT
$’000

TOTAL
$’000

69
—

—
2,695

69
2,695

69

2,695

2,764

a)

The current provision for employee entitlements includes accrued short term incentive plans,
severance entitlements, accrued annual leave and the unconditional entitlements to long
service leave where employees have completed the required period of service. The amounts are
presented as current since the Consolidated Entity does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for these obligations. However, based on experience, the Group does not expect all
employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment in the next 12 months.
Current leave obligations that are not expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months
amount to $18,000.

b)

Provisions for future removal and restoration costs are recognised where there is a present
obligation, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning
wells, and restoring the affected areas.

Movements in Provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial period are set out below:
Employee
Entitlements
$’000

Restoration &
Rehabilitation
$’000

Total
$’000

Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions charged to profit or loss
Acquired during the period (Note 21)

—
2
67

—
—
2,695

—
2
2,762

Carrying amount at end of period

69

2,695

2,764

2021
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13.

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
(a) Share capital
2021
$’000
255,000,001 fully paid ordinary shares

50,191

Ordinary shares have no par value, and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised
capital.
On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is
entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. At 31 December 200,000,000
ordinary shares are subject to escrow.
Movements in Ordinary Share Capital
2021
Balance at start of period
Issue of shares – acquisition of Black Mountain
Exploration Australia Pty Ltd
Issue of shares – initial public offering

NUMBER OF
SHARES

ISSUE PRICE
$

$’000

1

1.00

—

200,000,000

0.20

40,000

55,000,000

0.20

11,000

—

—

(809)

Share issue costs
Balance at end of period

255,000,001

50,191

(b) Share options
Black Mountain Energy share options are used to reward Directors and Employees for their
performance and to align their remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth through the
performance requirements attached to the options. Options are granted at the discretion of the
Board of Directors and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive
any guaranteed benefits. The options are not listed and carry no dividend or voting right. Upon
exercise, each option is convertible into one ordinary share to rank pari passu in all respects with
the Company’s existing fully paid ordinary shares.
The following table shows the movement in options over ordinary shares during the period:

Expiry Date

Exercise
Price

Balance at
Start of
Period

23 Dec 2021 23 Dec 2025

$0.286

—

20,299,513

—

— 20,299,513

—

20,299,513

—

— 20,299,513

Grant Date

Total
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13.

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)
Key inputs used in the fair value calculation of the unlisted options which has been granted during
the period ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:
Number
Granted

20,299,513

Exercise
Price

Expected Vesting
Dates

Expiry Date

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
$0.286 1/3 on 16 Dec 2024 23 Dec 2025

Share Price at
Fair Value Per
Grant Date Unlisted Option

$0.20

Total Fair
Value
$

$0.125 2,537,439

The above fair value calculation included 100% volatility and 0.51% risk free rate.
(c) Performance rights
Future performance rights will be issued under the long term incentive plan and will vest as an
entitlement to one fully paid ordinary share provided that certain performance milestones are met.
If the performance milestones are not met, the performance rights will lapse, and the eligible
participant will have no entitlement to any shares. During the period, the Company granted
performance rights as a long-term incentive to Employees. The Performance Rights were issued
outside of the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan approved by shareholders in October
2021. Each performance right will vest as an entitlement to one fully paid ordinary share upon
achievement of certain performance milestones described below.
Performance rights are not listed and carry no dividend or voting rights. Upon exercise each right is
convertible into one ordinary share to rank pari passu in all respects with the Company’s existing fully
paid ordinary shares. The performance rights will vest over a three year period in equal proportions
upon the Company announcing that it has successfully completed a 2D seismic program pursuant to
which the Company delivers a minimum of 100km of seismic data on or before 31 December 2022,
as verified by an independently qualified petrophysicist or geophysicist.
The following table shows the movement in performance rights over ordinary shares during the
period:

Grant Date

23 Dec 2021
Total

Balance
Issued
Exercise at Start During the
Expiry Date
Price of Period
Period

16 Dec 2025

nil

Lapsed
During the
Period

Converted Balance at the
During the
end of the
Period
Period

—

4,537,500

—

—

4,537,500

—

4,537,500

—

—

4,537,500
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13.

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)
Key inputs used in the fair value calculation of the performance rights which has been granted during
the period ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:
Number
Granted

4,537,500
(d)

Exercise
Price

Expected Vesting
Dates

Expiry
Date

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
nil 1/3 on 16 Dec 2024 16 Dec 2025

Fair Value Per
Share Price at Performance
Grant Date
Right

$0.20

$0.20

Total Fair
Value
$

907,500

Capital risk management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going
concern to ultimately add value for shareholders through the exploitation of hydrocarbon
resources. This is monitored using cash flow forecasts. To maintain the capital structure, the
Group may issue new shares or other equity instruments.
On 23 December 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering and listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange, raising $11 million before raising costs.

14.

RESERVES
2021
$’000
Share options reserve

321

Movements:
Balance at start of period
Share based payment costs (a)

—
321

Balance at end of period

321

(a)
15.

Share based payments are provided to Directors and employees as part of their remuneration
agreement with the Company. Refer to Note 24 for further details of share-based payments.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
Balance at the start of period
Net loss for the period
Balance at end of period
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16.

LOSS PER SHARE
2021
(a)

Basic and diluted loss per share ($)

(0.02)

(b)

Loss used in loss per share calculation
Loss attributed to ordinary equity holders ($’000)

(664)

(c)

Loss used in loss per share calculation

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in
calculating loss per share
42,500,001
Options and Rights on issue are potential ordinary shares and have not been included in the calculation
of basic earnings per share. No dilutive calculation has been performed for the current year. As a result
of the loss position of the Group the diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share.
17.

SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company operates as an unconventional gas exploration Company and operates only in Australia.
This is considered the only reportable segment.

18.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
The individual financial summary statements for the Parent Entity show the following aggregate
amounts:
2021
$’000

Balance Sheet
Current assets
Non-current assets

10,136
40,000

Total assets

50,136

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

271
17

Total liabilities

288

Net assets

49,848

Shareholders’ equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

50,191
321
(664)

Total equity

49,848

Profit/(Loss) for the period

(664)

Total comprehensive profit/(loss)

(664)

No commitments exist at reporting date.
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19.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Parent Entity
The ultimate parent entity and ultimate controlling party is Black Mountain Energy Ltd.

(b)

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Black Mountain
Energy Ltd and the subsidiaries listed in the following table:
2021
Name of Entity

Black Mountain Exploration Australia Pty Ltd
Black Mountain Exploration Pty Ltd
Bennett Resources Pty Ltd
(c)

Place of Incorporation

Western Australia
Western Australia
Western Australia

Class of Shares

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

%
100
100
100

Key management personnel compensation
2021
$

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Long term benefits
Share based payments

47,655
3,499
528
321,428
373,110

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 17 to 23.
(d)

Transactions with other related parties

Acquisition of Black Mountain Exploration Australia Pty Ltd
On 13th December 2021 Black Mountain Energy Ltd acquired 100% of Black Mountain Exploration
Australia Pty Ltd (“BMA”) from BM Canning LLC and Black Mountain Land Company LP. Purchase price
was settled by issuing 200,000,000 ordinary shares at 20c per share.
Rhett Bennett is the sole manager of BM Canning LLC and holds an equity interest in BM Canning
personally. Mr Bennett is the sole limited partner of Black Mountain Land Company LP and holds a
100% equity interest in Black Mountain Land Company LP, 99% of which is held personally and 1% is
held indirectly through Black Mountain Energy LLC (the sole general partner of Black Mountain Land
Company LP). Mr Bennett holds a 100% equity interest in Black Mountain Energy LLC personally.
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19.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Loans from related parties
A short-term loan of USD100,000 (AUD142,145 equivalent) was received from Black Mountain Land Company
LP on 1 December 2021 to meet working capital requirements. The loan was settled in full on 30 December
2021.
Purchase of services
i)

The Company entered into a transitional services agreement (TSA) with Black Mountain Oil &
Gas III LLC, pursuant to which the Company has sought the following services:
• Geology and geophysical: analyse, review, and interpret geologic qualities of the Company’s
assets;
• Drilling and completion / operations: establish and implement current and future drilling and
completion procedures, including liaising with any service providers to facilitate the on-going
development of EP 371;
• Reservoir engineering: analyse reservoir characteristics and originate recoverable resource
estimates.
AUD 15,375 was incurred in the 2021 financial period.

ii)

Wald International Services LLC provided senior advisory services to the Board during the
financial period including developing a commercialisation strategy for the EP 371 asset.
AUD 14,250 was incurred in the 2021 financial period.

20.

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT OR LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
2021
$’000

Loss after income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Share-based payments

(664)
2
321

Changes in assets and liabilities relating to operating activities:
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase in provisions

(162)
(105)
3

Net cash inflow from operations

(605)
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21.

ACQUISITION OF BLACK MOUNTAIN EXPLORATION AUSTRALIA PTY LTD
On 13th December 2021 Black Mountain Energy Ltd acquired 100% of Black Mountain Exploration
Australia Pty Ltd which was accounted for as an asset acquisition. Purchase price was settled by issuing
200,000,000 ordinary shares at 20c per share.

Black Mountain Exploration Australia Pty Ltd
Amounts settled by issue of 200,000,000 Black Mountain Energy
Ltd ordinary shares at initial public offering price of 20c per share
Total
Recognised amounts of net assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration assets
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets
Recognised amounts of net liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets acquired

22.

13 DECEMBER 2021
$’000
40,000
40,000

241
345
586
76
42,762
75
42,913

737
50
787
2,712
2,712
40,000

CONTINGENCIES
The Group had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 December 2021.
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23.

COMMITMENTS
(a)

Exploration commitments

The Consolidated Entity has the following minimum exploration expenditure commitments:
2021
$’000
The following amounts are due:
Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

1,000
8,000
—
9,000

These commitments may be varied in the future because of renegotiations of the terms of exploration
permits. In the petroleum industry it is common practice for entities to farm-out, transfer or sell a
portion of their rights to third parties or relinquish (whole or part of the permit) and, as a result,
obligations may be reduced or extinguished.
(b)

Lease commitments

The Consolidated Entity has entered a non-cancellable Perth Office lease commencing 1 January 2022.
The Group will apply AASB16 Leases, resulting in this lease being recognised as a right-of-use asset.
The rental and outgoing commitments over the 3-year term is $366,342. The Company entered a shortterm sublease on 21 February 2022, currently recovering a third of the rental and outgoing costs
monthly.
No other lease commitments exist as at 31 December 2021.
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24.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
(a)

Share options
An Employees Securities Incentive Plan operates to provide incentives for Directors and key
Executives. Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion. Details of options issued are
shown below.

Grant
Date

Expiry
Date

2021
23 Dec
2021

23 Dec 2025

Cancelled
Balance
Granted
Average Exercised or Expired
at Start During the Exercise Fair Value During the During the
of Period
Period
Price Per Option Period
Period

Totals

Balance at
End of Vested and
Period Exercisable

—

20,299,513

$0.286

$0.125

—

—

20,299,513

—

—

20,299,513

$0.286

$0.125

—

—

20,299,513

—

Weighted average exercise price

$0.286

$0.286

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period was $0.125. The values of
Executive Options are calculated at the date of grant using a Black Scholes valuation. The
options are not listed and carry no dividend or voting right. Upon exercise, each option is
convertible into one ordinary share to rank pari passu in all respects with the Company’s existing
fully paid ordinary shares. The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the
fair value of options granted to Executives during the period:

Grant Date Expiry Date

Fair
Value
Per Exercise
Option
Price

Price of
Shares
at Grant
Date

Estimated
Volatility

Risk Free
Interest Dividend
Rate
Yield

Vesting
Dates

2021

23 Dec 2021 23 Dec 2025
(b)

Grant Date

$0.125 $0.286

$0.20

100%

0.51%

—

1/3 on 16 Dec 2022
1/3 on 16 Dec 2023
1/3 on 16 Dec 2024

Performance rights

Expiry Date

Balance
Average
Cancelled
at
Granted
Fair Exercised or Forfeited Balance at
Start of During the
Value During the During the
End of
Period
Period Per Right
Period
Period
Period

Vesting
Dates

2021

23 Dec 2021 16 Dec 2025

—

4,537,500

Totals

—

4,537,500

Weighted average exercise
price

$0.20

$0.20
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24.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
During the period, the Company granted performance rights as a long-term incentive to Employees.
The Performance Rights were issued outside of the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan
approved by shareholders in October 2021 and will vest as an entitlement to one fully paid ordinary
share provided that certain performance milestones are met. If the performance milestones are not
met, the performance rights will lapse, and the eligible participant will have no entitlement to any
shares. Performance rights are not listed and carry no dividend or voting rights. Upon exercise each
right is convertible into one ordinary share to rank pari passu in all respects with the Company’s
existing fully paid ordinary shares. The weighted average fair value of share rights granted under the
Long-Term Incentive Plan during the period was $0.20. The fair values of deferred share rights granted
are valued using methodology that considers market and peer performance hurdles. The following
factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of rights granted to key management
personnel during FY2021:

Grant Date

Expiry Date

23 Dec 2021

16 Dec 2025

(c)

Fair Value
Per Right

Exercise
Price

Price of Shares
at Grant Date

$0.20

Nil

$0.20

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share-based transactions recognised during the period were:
2021
$
Share Rights issued to Directors and employees
25.

321,428

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Consolidated Entity’s principal financial instruments are cash and short-term deposits. The
Consolidated Entity also has other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Consolidated Entity’s risk management
objective with regard to financial instruments and other financial assets include gaining interest
income and the policy is to do so with a minimum of risk.
(a)

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with financial institutions, as well
as other receivables. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For cash balances held with bank
or financial institutions, independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are preferred.
The Board are of the opinion that the credit risk arising because of the concentration of the
Group's assets is more than offset by the potential benefits gained. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the assets as summarised, none of
which are impaired or past due.
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25.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
2021
$’000
9,685

Cash and cash equivalents

196

Other receivables

9,881
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2021 was held with an Australian Bank with an A+ credit
rating. Other receivables at 31 December 2021 relate predominantly to GST receivables from the
Australian Taxation Office which have been received subsequent to period end.
(b)

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
Through continuous monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows the Group manages liquidity
risk by maintaining adequate reserves to meet future cash needs. The decision on how the
Group will raise future capital will depend on market conditions existing at that time.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2021 ($’000)

≤6
Months

6–12
Months

1–5 Years

≥ 5 Years

Contractual
Cash Flow

Carrying
Amount

9,685

—

—

—

9,685

9,685

400

110

—

—

510

510

—

—

75

—

75

75

10,085

110

75

—

10,270

10,270

(494)

—

—

—

(494)

(494)

(494)

—

—

—

(494)

(494)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Other financial assets

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
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25.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Interest Rate Risk
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial
instrument’s value will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates and the effective
weighted average interest rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, is as
follows:

2021 ($’000)
Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Other financial assets

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate

Floating
Interest
Rate

Fixed
Interest

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total

0.3

1,685

8,000

—

9,685

—
0.2

—
75
1,760

—
—
8,000

510
—
510

510
75
10,270

—

—
—

—
—

(494)
(494)

(494)
(494)

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of
both short term and long-term interest rates. A 10% movement in interest rates at the reporting
date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below
based on the average balance of interest-bearing financial instruments held. This analysis
assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Profit or Loss
10% Increase
2021 ($’000)
Cash and cash equivalents

Equity

10% Decrease

1

(1)

10% Increase
—

10% Decrease
—

These movements would not have any impact on equity other than retained earnings.
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25.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Currency Risk
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to currency risk is limited due to its ongoing operations being
in Australia and most associated contracts completed in Australian dollars. A foreign exchange
risk arises from operational support costs denominated in US dollars. The Group generally does
not undertake any hedging or forward contract transactions as the exposure is considered
immaterial, however, individual transactions are reviewed for any potential currency risk
exposure. At reporting date, the Group had the following exposure to foreign currency risk for
balances denominated in US dollars from its continuing operations, which are disclosed in
Australian dollars:
2021
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

2

Trade and other payables

(29)

The following table details the Group’s Profit or Loss sensitivity to a 10% increase or decrease in the Australian
dollar against the US dollar, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis is based on the
foreign currency risk exposure at the reporting date.
2021
$’000
Australian dollar/ US dollar +10%

2

Australian dollar/ US dollar -10%

(3)

(e)

Fair Values
The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, financial assets and financial liabilities,
approximate their fair values.

26.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 10 January 2022, the Company lodged their Environmental Review Document (ERD) with the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The ERD is a response to the Environmental Scoping Document and
is currently under internal review within the EPA.
During the first quarter of 2022, the Company has formally awarded the 130km 2D Seismic Survey tender to
Terrex Seismic. Planning activities have commenced and the survey is currently scheduled to commence in
second quarter of 2022.
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Directors’ Declaration

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
1.

In the Directors’ opinion:
a.

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 25 to 58 of the Consolidated Entity are in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), including:
i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth) and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and
ii. giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 December
2021 and of its performance for the financial period 26 July 2021 to 31 December 2021;

2.

b.

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable; and

c.

the financial statements comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board as disclosed in Note 2(a).

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors
in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the financial period ended 31
December 2021.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Black Mountain Energy Ltd:

Rhett Bennett
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Fort Worth, TX USA

28 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
DETAILS OF QUOTED SECURITIES AS AT 11 MARCH 2022
Top holders
The 20 largest registered holders of the quoted securities as at 11 March 2022 were:
No. of
Shares

Name

%

1

BM CANNING LLC

199,968,253 78.42%

2

HIGH ROLLER VENTURES LLC

9,500,000

3.73%

3

CS FOURTH NOMINEES PTY LIMITED<HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 11 A/C>

3,647,406

1.43%

4

CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 13 A/C>

2,050,000

0.80%

5

MRS YAN WANG <AUST WEST COAST TRAVEL A/C>

1,928,739

0.76%

6

MR KENNETH JOSEPH HALL <HALL PARK A/C>

1,800,000

0.71%

7

AMBER CLOUD PTY LTD

1,230,000

0.48%

8

ROOKHARP CAPITAL PTY LIMITED

964,370

0.38%

9

MR JOHN RHETT MILES BENNETT

867,297

0.34%

750,000

0.29%

615,000

0.24%

12 MRS ZI JUAN QI <CHEN FAMILY A/C>

578,622

0.22%

13 SUNSET CAPITAL MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <SUNSET SUPERFUND A/C>

519,616

0.20%

14 KENSINGTON TRUST SINGAPORE LIMITED <IS&P (FNS) RETIREMENT A/C>

500,000

0.20%

14 V & F TRUDA PTY LTD <VINCE TRUDA S/F A/C>

500,000

0.20%

14 MR JOHN RHETT MILES BENNETT

500,000

0.20%

15 JESLANDS INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <JERUSALEM RETIREMENT A/C>

450,000

0.18%

450,000

0.18%

16 TRINITY DIRECT PTY LTD

434,493

0.17%

17 E-TECH CAPITAL PTY LTD <ASF SUPER FUND A/C>

425,435

0.17%

18 CHIFLEY PORTFOLIOS PTY LIMITED <DAVID HANNON A/C>

410,000

0.16%

18 PETERLYN PTY LTD <RPC SALMON SUPER FUND A/C>

410,000

0.16%

18 SPO EQUITIES PTY LIMITED <MARCH STREET EQUITY A/C>

410,000

0.16%

19 SUPAVAL PTY LTD <SUPAVAL SUPER FUND A/C>

400,000

0.16%

19 MR ANANDA KATHIRAVELU

400,000

0.16%

20 IRWIN BIOTECH NOMINEES PTY LTD <BIOA A/C>

387,500

0.14%

20 MR LAY ANN ONG

387,500

0.14%

10 ARREDO PTY LTD
11

15

MR KEVIN DANIEL LEARY & MRS HELEN PATRICIA LEARY <KEVIN & HELEN LEARY
S/F A/C>

MR DAVID GRUNDMANN & MRS MICHELLE GRUNDMANN <GRUNDMAN SUPER
FUND A/C>

Total 230,484,231 90.38%
Total issued capital – selected security class(es) 255,000,001 100.00%
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DISTRIBUTION SCHEDULE
A distribution schedule of the number of holders in each class of equity securities as at 11 March 2022 was:
Shares

Performance Rights

%
Issued
Holding
Share
Ranges Holders Total Units Capital Holders
11,000
11
2,386 0.00%
1,001 5,000
20
79,567 0.03%
5,001 10,000
105 1,034,494 0.41%
10,001
100,000
309 13,780,538 5.40%
100,001
- Over
Total

Options (ex @ $0.286 EXP
23/12/2025)

Total
Units

%
Issued
Share
Capital Holders Total Units

%
Issued
Share
Capital

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

78 240,103,016 94.16%

2 4,537,500 100.00%

6 20,299,513 100.00%

523 255,000,001 100.00%

2 4,537,500 100.00%

6 20,299,513 100.00%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholders as disclosed by notices received by the Company as at 11 March 2022 with holdings
of 5% or more of the total votes attached to the voting shares or interests in the Entity:
Holder
Rhett Bennett

Units
212,061,727

UNMARKETABLE PARCELS
Holdings less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares (being 29,700 shares as at 11 March 2022):
Holders
19
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VOTING RIGHTS
Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, at meetings
of shareholders or classes of shareholders:
• each shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative of a
shareholder;
• on a show of hands, every person present who is a shareholder or a proxy, attorney or representative
of a shareholder has one vote; and
• on a poll, every person present who is a shareholder shall, in respect of each fully paid share held by
him, or in respect of which he is appointed a proxy, attorney or representative, have one vote for their
share, but in respect of partly paid shares, shall have such number of votes being equivalent to the
proportion which the amount paid (not credited) is of the total amounts paid and payable in respect
of those shares (excluding amounts credited).
ON-MARKET BUY-BACK
There is no current on-market buy-back of the Company’s securities.
UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES
Unquoted Equity Security Holders with greater than 20% of an Individual class (“IC”)
OPTIONS EXERCISABLE AT $0.286 ON OR BEFORE 23/12/2025
Position

Holder Name

Holding

1

RHETT JOHN MILES BENNETT

9,131,348

% IC
44.98%

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS
Position

Holder Name

Holding

% IC

1

BRADLEY RICHARDSON <THE WIGGLEBUTT FAMILY TRUST>

2,475,000

54.55%

2

KAREN COOPER <THE AC51KAZ FAMILY TRUST>

2,062,500

45.45%

Total

4,537,500

100.00%

Total issued capital – selected security class(es)

4,537,500

100.00%
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RESTRICTED SECURITIES
The Company has the following restricted securities on issue:
•

200,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares classified by ASX as restricted securities and to be held in escrow
until 23 December 2023, being 24 months from the date of Quotation

•

17,095,531 options exercisable at $0.286 on or before 23 December 2025, classified by ASX as
restricted securities and to be held in escrow until 21 December 2023, being 24 months from the date
of Quotation.

•

2,457,000 performance rights with a nil exercise price on or before 23 December 2025, classified by
ASX as restricted securities and to be held in escrow until 21 December 2023, being 24 months from
the date of issue

LISTING RULE 1.3.2(B)
The Company confirms that it has used the cash and assets in a form readily converted to cash consistent
with the use of funds as outlined in the Replacement Prospectus.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Company and its Board are committed to achieving and demonstrating high standards of corporate
governance. The Company has reviewed its corporate governance practices against the Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance
Council.
The 2021 Corporate Governance Statement is dated as at 28 March 2022 and reflects the corporate
governance practices in place throughout the 2021 financial period. The Company’s Corporate Governance
Statement undergoes periodic review by the Board. A description of the Group’s current corporate
governance practices is set out in the Group’s Corporate Governance Statement which can be viewed at
https://www.blackmountainenergy.com/site/about-us/corporate-governance
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RESERVES AND RESOURCES STATEMENT
As at 28 March 2022, Black Mountain Energy did not hold any hydrocarbon volumes classified as meeting the
PRMS definition of Reserves in EP 371.
(a) EP 371
In the technical report dated 10 August 2021, which was included in Black Mountain Energy’s
Replacement Prospectus dated 29 October 2021, Molyneux Advisors Pty. Ltd., (MA), provided a
best estimate of the Company’s gross prospective and contingent gas and condensate resources
relating to its 100% interest in the unconventional gas accumulation in EP 371 of 11.805 Tcf and
1.525 Tcf respectively, (as of 10 August 2021):
Prospective Resources*
Recoverable Gas (Tcf)
Recoverable Condensate (MM bbls)
Recoverable Resources (MM boe)
Contingent Resources*
Recoverable Gas (Tcf)
Recoverable Condensate (MM bbls)
Recoverable Resources (MM boe)

*Unrisked net to Black Mountain Energy

2U (Best)
11.805
165.60
2318.03
2C (Best)
1.525
29.605
307.66

The estimates of Black Mountain Energy Resources’ gross prospective gas resources relating to its 100%
interest in EP 371 as provided by the Technical Expert ranges from 4.836 Tcf to 27.834 Tcf (Prospective
Resources) and from 0.572 Tcf to 3.2 Tcf (Contingent Resources), reflecting asymmetrical risk to the upside
relative to the ‘best estimate’ provided. Condensate resources relating to its 100% interest in EP 371 as
provided by the Technical Expert ranges from 59.82 to 413.59 MM bbls (Prospective Resources) and from
10.936 to 64.039 MM bbls (Contingent Resources), again reflecting asymmetrical risk to the upside relative
to the ‘best estimate’ provided.
The Prospective Resources presented in this report have been estimated using probabilistic methods and are
dependent upon an unconventional gas discovery being made. If a discovery is made and development is
undertaken, the probability that the recoverable volumes will at least be equal or exceed the un-risked
estimate amounts is 90% for the low estimate, 50% for the best estimate and 10% for the high estimate.
Following the PRMS (2018) definition, prospective resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as
of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of future
development projects. These estimates have both an associated risk of discovery (chance of geologic
discovery) and a risk (chance) of development. Further exploration appraisal and evaluation is required to
determine the existence of a significant quantity of potentially moveable hydrocarbons.
The Contingent Resources presented in this report have been estimated using probabilistic methods. The
estimates are based upon geoscience and engineering data from the early Carboniferous-age Laurel
Formation including that from wells Valhalla-1 (ST-1), Valhalla-2, Asgard-1 and Valhalla North-1. The latter
two were hydraulically fracture-stimulated and flowed gas when tested.
Following the PRMS (2018) definition, Contingent Resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as
of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations by the application of development
project(s) not currently considered to be commercial owing to one or more contingencies. The successful
maturation of the Contingent Resources reported in the Technical Expert’s Report is contingent upon
demonstration of the economic viability of project (including development plan), development of
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infrastructure, (gas) sales contract(s) in place, regulatory authority approvals, the absence of any political,
socio-economic or environmental blockers and a commitment to develop the resources.
BUSINESS RISKS
Black Mountain Energy has an Audit and Risk Management Committee, which identifies, monitors and
manages material risks to the business. The risks faced by Black Mountain Energy may include regulatory and
compliance risks, policy risks, legal risks, environmental risks, occupational health and safety risks, financial
risks, reputation risks and operational and execution risks.
The Board is responsible for overseeing the establishment of and approving Black Mountain Energy’s risk
management framework including its strategy, policies, procedures and systems. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee reviews and monitors the effectiveness of Black Mountain Energy’s risk
management framework to provide assurance that major business risks (including contemporary and
emerging risks) are identified and to satisfy itself that Black Mountain Energy is operating with regard to the
risk appetite set by the Board. Black Mountain Energy’s management is responsible for establishing a risk
management framework, including identifying major risk areas and developing policies and procedures,
which are designed effectively to identify, treat, monitor, report and manage key business risks. A description
of the nature of the risks and how such risks are managed is set out below. This list is neither exhaustive nor
in order of importance.
Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

Asgard 1 well

The Company has determined pressure build-up
on the annulus in the Asgard 1 wellbore. There is
a risk the Company may be required to plug and
abandon the Asgard 1 well if it is requested to do
so by DMIRS. As at the reporting date the
Company confirms that it has not received any
such determination by DMIRS.

Estimated
plug
and
abandonment
costs
have
provisionally been included in
the 2022 budget approved by
the Board.

Export exemption to
Western Australian
domestic gas supply

In August 2020, Premier Mark McGowan
announced that the WA Domestic Gas Policy
would be amended to prevent the export of local
WA gas to the Eastern States or overseas. This
policy would have prevented the Company from
exporting EP 371 gas and, given the lack of
infrastructure to get EP 371 gas to market and the
current domestic gas prices, would have made it
challenging to develop EP 371 gas.

The Company is not aware of
any reason why the exemption
would be withdrawn or
terminated.

In September 2021, the Company was granted an
exemption to the export restrictions on domestic
natural gas from the Western Australian
government's Department of Jobs, Tourism,
Science and Innovation
(JTSI). The Company was granted this exemption
on the basis of its remote location and isolated
nature of the Valhalla gas field.
There is a risk this exemption may be withdrawn
and/or terminated in which case, as outlined
above, it may be challenging for the Company to
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Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

develop EP 371 gas at the current domestic gas
prices.
Exploration

Gas exploration and development is speculative
and involves elements of significant risk with no
guarantee of success. There is no assurance that
expenditure on activities will result in gas
discoveries that can be commercially or
economically exploited.
A key to the Company's financial performance is
to have success in exploring for and locating
commercially
exploitable
hydrocarbons.
Exploration is subject to technical risks and
uncertainty of outcome. The Company may not
find any or may find insufficient hydrocarbon
reserves and resources to commercialise, which
would adversely impact the financial performance
of the Company.

Black Mountain Energy utilises
multiple internal and external
evaluation procedures including
strategic planning, scoping,
budgeting, forecasting and
stakeholder engagement to
evaluate exploration prospects
as part of managing exploration
risks.

There is the risk that drilling will result in dry holes
or not result in the discovery of commercially
exploitable hydrocarbons. Wells may not be
productive, or they may not provide sufficient
revenues to return a profit after accounting for
associated costs. The cost of drilling, completing,
equipping, and operating wells is subject to
uncertainties.
Operational

Gas development activities include numerous
operational risks, including but not limited to,
adverse weather conditions, environmental
hazards,
and
unforeseen
increases
in
establishment costs, accidents (including, for
example, fires, explosions, uncontrolled releases,
spills and blowouts), equipment failure, industrial
disputes, technical issues, supply chain failure,
labour issues, deliberate destruction, adverse
production results, uncertainty in resource and
reserve estimation, uncertainty in deliverability
estimation, IT system failure, cyber security
breaches, political opposition and other
unexpected events. Drilling and HFS operations,
carry inherent risk associated with, for example,
unexpected geological conditions, mechanical
failures, or human error.

Black
Mountain
Energy
mitigates these risks by
employing various professionals
with considerable experience
related to gas exploration and
development. The Company
follows an extensive framework
which includes procurement,
production, operational and
equipment
management
processes.

The occurrence of an operational risk event could
also result in damage to, or destruction of,
production
facilities,
personal
injury,
environmental damage, increase operational
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Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

costs and significantly disrupt the Company’s
operations, possibly restricting the Company’s
ability to advance its development and
operational programs. This, in turn, may adversely
impact the Company’s financial performance.
Development

If the Company is successful in locating
commercial quantities of gas, then that
development could be delayed or unsuccessful for
a number of reasons including extreme weather,
unanticipated operational occurrences, failure to
obtain necessary approvals, insufficient funds, a
drop in commodity price, supply chain failure,
unavailability of appropriate labour, or an
increase in costs, access to infrastructure and land
access to construct suitable infrastructure. If one
or more of these occurrences has a material
impact, then the Company's operational and
financial performance may be negatively affected.

To mitigate this risk, Black
Mountain Energy conducts
various risk assessments and
scenario planning in relation to
multiple development risks.

Access to infrastructure risk,
availability of drilling and
hydraulic fracturing
equipment

The Company's gas exploration and development
activities are dependent on the availability of
drilling rigs and related equipment in its
exploration permit. Recent increases in oil and gas
exploration activities in Australia have resulted in
high demand and limited availability for some
types of drilling rigs and equipment in certain
areas which may result in delays to the Company's
planned exploration and development activities.

Black Mountain Energy seek to
work closely with customers and
suppliers of infrastructure to
mitigate the risk of delays or
failure. We continue to explore
alternative routes to market to
diversify risk where possible.

The Company will very likely require access to
infrastructure, or to construct infrastructure, to
sell the reserves it produces, including pipelines to
transport the gas to market. Given the remote
location of the Company's project, there can be no
guarantee that the Company will be able to gain
access to appropriate infrastructure on
commercially viable terms or that it will be
commercially viable for it to fund the construction
of its own infrastructure. Failure to obtain access
to infrastructure (whether owned by the
Company or others) may adversely impact the
Company's financial performance.
Hydraulic fracturing
stimulation

In order to undertake the proposed drilling
program and to conduct HFS, which separately
requires regulatory and environmental approval
from the EPA and DMIRS, the Company will
require further funding in the future. The future
capital requirements of the Company will depend
on many factors including market rates for drilling
and HFS equipment, market rates for personnel,
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Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

success of future drilling campaigns and the
timeliness of permitting requirements. In
addition, the environmental and operational
regulations may evolve in ways that increase the
Company’s costs or which may prevent the
Company from conducting HFS activities.
Estimating hydrocarbon reserves and resources is
subject to significant uncertainties associated
with technical data and interpretation of that
data, analysis of drilling results, assumptions of
future commodity prices and business
assumptions regarding development and
operating costs. Estimates may alter significantly
or become more uncertain when new information
becomes available due to, for example, additional
drilling or production test over the life of the field.
Downward revision of reserves and resources
estimates may adversely affect the Company’s
operational and financial performance.

understood and implemented
by the Company and its
contractors.

Climate change

As a gas exploration Company, Black Mountain
Energy is exposed to both transition risks and
physical risks associated with climate change. The
global transition to a lower-carbon economy may
entail extensive policy, legal, technology and
market changes and, if demand for gas declines,
Black Mountain Energy may encounter barriers to
commercialise any resources it discovers. Physical
risks resulting from climate change may have an
acute or chronic impact the Company. Acute
physical risks refer to those that are event-driven,
including increased severity of extreme weather
events, such as cyclones or floods. Chronic
physical risks refer to longer term shifts in climate
patterns (for example, sustained higher
temperatures) that may cause sea level rises or
chronic heat waves. Physical risks, depending on
their severity, could delay or prevent Black
Mountain Energy’s ability to conduct exploration
and development activities. The transition and
physical risks associated with climate change
(including also regulatory responses to such issues
and associated costs) may significantly affect
Black Mountain Energy’s operating and financial
performance.

Black Mountain Energy actively
monitors current and potential
areas of climate change risk and
takes actions to prevent and/or
mitigate any impacts on its
objectives and activities. Black
Mountain Energy’s approach
involves minimising carbon
emissions related to the
development of its resources
further, by using advanced
drilling
and
completion
technologies and exploring
options to integrate renewable
energy, carbon capture and
sequestration
and
carbon
offsets

Community

Our interactions with, and decisions involving
landholders, traditional owners, suppliers and the
community fails to attract and maintain the

We work in conjunction with our
key stakeholders and have
established programs to support
and assist the communities in

Reserves and resources
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Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

continued support of the communities in which
we operate

which we operate through
donations, sponsorships, local
procurement, training and
providing
ongoing
local
employment and business
opportunities.

Financial

Insufficient liquidity to meet financial
commitments and fund growth opportunities
could have a material adverse effect on our
operations and financial performance.

We have a robust expenditure
management and forecasting
process which is monitored
against a Board approved
budget to ensure capital is
allocated in accordance with the
Company’s strategy. We also
consider seeking partnering
opportunities to share risks and
assist in funding key activities.

Permit

The Company is required to comply with a range
of laws to retain its permits and periodically
renew them. The Company's permit also has its
own specific requirements that the Company
must satisfy. Even if specific requirements are
met, there is no certainty that an application for
grant or renewal of the permit will be approved at
all, or on satisfactory terms or within expected
timeframes.

Black Mountain Energy manages
its tenure processes and
monitors
the
conditions
attaching to each permit to
ensure they are complied with,
in order to reduce the risk of
losing tenure.

The laws relating to permits are complex and
subject to changes in interpretation. Noncompliance with them could lead to the
revocation of the Company’s permit and the
Company cannot guarantee its permit will be
renewed or future permits will be granted.
If the application for a retention lease is not
granted, the declared location of discovery of a
petroleum pool under the Petroleum Act will be
lost and, on the next renewal of EP 371, the
Company may be required to relinquish more
blocks than it would otherwise.
Native title

The area of EP 371 is partially covered by one
registered native title claim (in the name of
Warlangurru) and five registered native title
determinations (in the names of Noonkanbah,
Nyikina Mangala, Bunuba People #2 Part A, YiMartuwarra Ngurrara Part A and Bunuba #2 Part
B, respectively).

Black Mountain Energy engages
with stakeholders and monitors
laws relating to Native Title and
cultural heritage to ensure that
it complies with all applicable
regulations.

The Company is aware that the area of EP 371 is
covered by the Yungngora Aboriginal Corporation
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Details of risk

Mitigation

RNTBC, Buru Energy Limited and Diamond
Resources (Canning) Pty Ltd Body Corporate
Indigenous Land Use Agreement (YAC ILUA). BNR
(the holder of EP 371) is a party to the YAC ILUA,
which was signed on 5 September 2016 and
registered on 17 March 2017. The YAC ILUA
relates to the Noonkanbah native title
determination.
There remains a risk that in the future, native title
and/or registered native title claims may affect
the land the subject of the Company's project or
in the vicinity.
The existence of native title claims over the area
covered by the Company's project, or a
subsequent determination of native title over the
area, will not impact the rights or interests of the
holder under the permits provided the permits
have been validly granted in accordance with the
Native Title Act. It is the Company's view that EP
371 was granted validly, and has been renewed
validly, in accordance with the Native Title Act.
However, if any permit was not validly granted in
compliance with the Native Title Act, this may
have an adverse impact on the Company's
activities.
The grant of any future production licence to the
Company over areas that are covered by
registered claims or determinations will likely
require engagement with the relevant claimants
or native title holders (as relevant) in accordance
with the Native Title Act. Any delays or costs in
engaging with the relevant native title holders in
negotiating new arrangements in respect of a
production licence may adversely impact the
Company’s ability to carry out petroleum
extraction activities within the affected areas.
Aboriginal heritage

The Company is aware that there are seven
registered Aboriginal heritage sites and three
applications for 'other' Aboriginal heritage places,
within EP 371.
There remains a risk that additional Aboriginal
sites may exist on the land the subject of EP 371.
The existence of such sites may preclude or limit
exploration activities in certain areas of EP 371.
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Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

COVID-19

The global economic outlook is facing uncertainty
due to the current COVID-19 pandemic and its
impacts on global capital markets, the gas price
and foreign exchange rates. In addition, should
any Company personnel or contractors be
infected, it could result in the Company’s
operations being suspended or otherwise
disrupted. Supply chain disruptions and measures
to limit the transmission of the virus may also
adversely impact the Company’s operations,
financial position and prospects.

Black Mountain Energy will
continue to monitor COVID-19
and government responses and
will introduce measures as
appropriate to respond to the
effects of the pandemic.

Environmental

The Company is also subject to laws and
regulations to minimise the environmental impact
of its operations and rehabilitation of any areas
affected by its operations. Penalties for failure to
adhere to requirements and, in the event of
environmental damage, remediation costs can be
substantive.

To mitigate this risk, the
Company has in place a
sustainability plan and has a
designated
sustainability
committee to consider, monitor
and manage its obligations
(including potential areas of
change) in respect of the
environment.

Growth Strategy and Net
Zero Emissions

There is a risk that the Company may fail to
execute its proposed growth strategy, which
could be caused by legal, regulatory and policy
developments, failure to discover and
commercially extract resources. In particular,
achievement of the Company’s vision of becoming
a net zero emissions producer of gas will depend
on the Company being able to economically
manage its carbon emissions, which could for
example be impacted by availability of future
revenues to fund various carbon initiatives,
market pricing of carbon offsets, technological
developments affecting operations and costs of
implementing sustainable practices.

To mitigate this risk, the
Company has in place a
Sustainability Plan and has a
designated
Sustainability
Committee to consider and
manage any such risk that
arises.

Health and safety

Health and Safety incidents or accidents may
adversely impact our people, the communities in
which we operate, our reputation and/or our
licence to operate.

Health and Safety is an area of
focus for Black Mountain Energy
and our risk management
framework includes auditing
and verification processes for
our critical controls. We also
regularly review our operations
and activities to ensure we
operate with the required
standards
of
safety
management.
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ASX Additional Information
Risk

Details of risk

Mitigation

People and culture

Failure to establish and develop sufficient
capability and capacity to support our operations
may impact achievement of our objectives.

Black Mountain Energy’s focus
remains on securing and
developing the right people to
support the development of our
portfolio
of
assets
and
opportunities.
Our
focus
remains on creating a positive
employer value proposition,
planning
our
resource
requirements and attracting
talented individuals. We also
proactively engage contractors
to supplement any short-term
gaps in capability and capacity
to support the execution of our
business plans.

Digital and cyber security

Failure to safeguard the confidentiality, integrity,
availability and reliability of digital data and
intellectual property. Black Mountain Energy’s
information and operational technology systems
may be subject to intentional or unintentional
disruption (e.g. cyber security attack) which could
impact our ability to reliably supply customers.

Digital risks are identified,
assessed and managed based on
the business criticality of our
systems, which may be
segregated and isolated if
required. We continuously
assess and determine access
permissions
to
critical
information or data, whilst
consolidating, simplifying, and
automating security controls.
Our exposure to cyber risk is
managed by a proactive and
continuing focus on system
controls such as firewalls,
restricted points of entry,
multiple data back-ups and
security monitoring software.
We are continuing to embed a
cyber-safe culture across Black
Mountain Energy.

PERMITS GRANTED
BME Consolidated Entity

Permit

Location

Operator

EP 371

Canning Basin,
Western Australia

Bennett
Resources

Registered
Interest (%)
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Other JV Participants

Beneficial
Participant
Beneficial
Interest
Interest (%)
Name
(%)
100

n/a

n/a
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Corporate Directory

CORPORATE DIRECTORY
BLACK MOUNTAIN ENERGY LTD
ABN 83 652 281 868
DIRECTORS
Mr Rhett Bennett BSc, Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Ms Samantha Richardson, MBA, GAICD, Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
Ms Marie Malaxos, GAICD, Non-Executive Director
Mr Peter Cramer, BA, Member SEG, AAPG & PDA, Non-Executive Director
Ms Sara Kelly, BComm, Non-Executive Director
Ms Ashley Zumwalt-Forbes, MBA, BSc, Alternative Director to Rhett Bennett
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Alan Cooper, CA, BA (Hons), Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company Secretary
Mr Ben Donavan, BComm (Hons), Joint Company Secretary
REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 14, 225 St Georges Terrace, Perth, Western Australia, 6000
Telephone: +61 8 9200 1685
Facsimile: +61 8 9200 1684
www.blackmountainenergy.com
AUDITORS
KPMG
235 St Georges Terrace, Perth, Western Australia, 6000
BANKERS
Westpac Banking Corporation
109 St Georges Terrace, Perth, Western Australia, 6000
SHARE REGISTER
Automic Group
Level 5, 191 St Georges Terrace, Perth, Western Australia, 6000
Telephone: 1300 288 664
Telephone: +61 2 9698 5414
Facsimile: +61 2 8583 3040
www.automicgroup.com.au
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Black Mountain Energy Ltd shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange under the code BME.
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